
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - COMMUNITY 
 

Date: Tuesday 1 March 2016 
Time:  5.30 pm 
Venue:  Rennes Room, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter 
 
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business.  
 
If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Howard Bassett, 
Democratic Services Officer (Committees) on 01392 265107. 
 
Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the Customer Service Centre, Paris Street. 
 
Membership - 
Councillors Brimble, Bull, Buswell, George (Deputy Chair), Hannan, Holland, Morris, Newby, 
Packham, Raybould, Shiel, Vizard and Wardle (Chair) 
 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 
 Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present 

1  
  
Apologies 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence from Committee members.  
 

 

2  
  
Minutes 
 

 

 To sign the minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2016. 
  
 

 

3  
  
Declaration of Interests 
 

 

 Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been 
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the 
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the 
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave 
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item.  
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the day of the meeting. 
  

 



 

4  
  
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 - Exclusion of Press 
and Public 
 

 

 It is considered that the Committee would be unlikely to exclude the press and 
public during consideration of the items on this agenda, but if it should wish to do 
so, the following resolution should be passed:- 
 
RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting of the particular item(s) 
on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
  
 

 

5  
  
Questions from the Public under Standing Order 19 
 

 

 Details of questions should be notified to the Corporate Manager Democratic and 
Civic Support at least three working days prior to the meeting. Further information 
and a copy of the procedure are available from Democratic Services 
(Committees) (01392 265115) also on the Council web site - 
www.exeter.gov.uk/decisions.    
 

 

6  
  
Questions from Members of the Council under Standing Order 20 
 

 

 To receive questions from Members of the Council to appropriate Portfolio 
Holders. 

 
  
 

 

PRESENTATION TO COMMITTEE 

7  
  
Exeter Community Strategy - Neighbourhood Portion of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Assistant Director City Development and the 
Community Involvement and Inclusion Officer. 
  
 

(Pages 5 - 
24) 

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 

8  
  
Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring to December 2015 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Assistant Director Finance. 
  
 

(Pages 25 
- 40) 

9  
  
Community Budget Monitoring to December 2015 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Assistant Director Finance. 
  
 

(Pages 41 
- 52) 

http://www.exeter.gov.uk/decisions


ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE EXECUTIVE 

10  
  
Recycling Action Plan 2016/17 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Assistant Director Environment. 
  
 

(Pages 53 
- 64) 

11  
  
Housing Strategy - 2016-2020 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Assistant Director Housing. 
  
 

(Pages 65 
- 96) 

 
Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site http://www.exeter.gov.uk.  
This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings and tell you how you can ask a question 
at a Scrutiny Committee meeting.  Alternatively, contact the Democratic Services Officer 
(Committees) on (01392) 265107 for further information. 

 
Follow us: 
www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil 
www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil 

 
Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print on 
request to Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 265107. 

http://www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil
http://www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil




 
REPORT TO: SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - COMMUNITY 
 
Date of Meeting: Scrutiny Committee Community – 1 March 2016     
   Executive – 15 March 2016 
   Council – 19 April 2016  
Report of: Assistant Director City Development 
Title: Exeter Community Strategy - Neighbourhood Portion of the 

Community Infrastructure Levy. 
 

 
 
Is this a Key Decision? 
Yes 
 

 

Is this an Executive or Council Function? 
Council 
 
1. What is the report about? 
 
1.1  In February 2015 Executive agreed to support a recommendation that a bottom-up 

community level strategy be developed to address the demands that development places 
on Exeter’s neighbourhoods, anticipating that this would identify collective community 
priorities and inform the allocation of the neighbourhood portion of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy and a proportion of the New Homes Bonus. 
Subject to Council approval on 23 February 2016, £150,000 of New Homes Bonus 
Community Infra-structure funding is to be reallocated to these funds in order to 
complement the neighbourhood portion of CIL. It is suggested that this funding is used in 
the next couple of years to support capacity building work with community groups across 
the city that require investment to enable them to access the CIL neighbourhood funding in 
future years. 

 
 
1.2  Exeter Community Forum (ECF) has led the development of the Exeter Community 

Strategy (ECS) with the support of consultants Gerard Couper and Andrew Shadrake (CAG 
Consultants).  Hundreds of residents across the city took part in a series of community 
consultation events to identify priorities for the city, on which the neighbourhood portion of 
the CIL should be spent.   
 

1.3  This report anticipates that the ECF will make future recommendations to Council on how 
the neighbourhood portion of the CIL should be spent. 
 

2. Recommendations: 
 

2.1  The report recommends that: 
 
(i) Council welcomes and approves in principle the Exeter Community Strategy as a 

living document that will inform the allocation of the neighbourhood portion of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy. 

 
(ii) Council welcomes recommendations from ECF as to how to spend the 

neighbourhood portion of the CIL and the New Homes Bonus allocation.  
 
(iii) Council invites the ECF to put forward a process by which recommendations for 

spending the neighbourhood portion of the CIL are put to the Council for approval 
on a periodic basis, taking account of the availability of funds secured in the 
neighbourhood portion of the CIL and of the Council’s inability to borrow against 
future CIL receipts. 



 
(iv) Council invites the ECF to put forward a suggestion for how the spend of the 

neighbourhood portion of the CIL will be communicated publicly. 
 
(v) Council officers are consulted as appropriate on the future review of the purpose, 

function and future of the ECF to ensure that the ECF continues to perform the 
representative role it has developed to date. 

 
(vi) Through its Community Involvement and Inclusion Officer, the Council retains 

accounting responsibilities in relation to the neighbourhood portion of the CIL. 
 

3. Reasons for the recommendations:  
 
3.1  The recommendations are intended to provide for the spend of the neighbourhood portion 

of the CIL in line with community wishes, and thereby the implementation of the Exeter 
Community Strategy.  The recommendations also reflect the need for the Council to remain 
accountable for the spend of CIL monies. 

  
4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources: 
 
4.1  It is estimated that the neighbourhood portion of the total Community Infrastructure Levy 

receipts over the next 10 years will be approximately £3.75 million.  Executive approved the 
ring fencing of these funds for implementing the Exeter Community Strategy at its 10 
February 2015 meeting.  The CIL regulations do not provide for borrowing to be undertaken 
against CIL receipts, and so sufficient CIL receipts must have accumulated before projects 
can be funded.  There will be administrative and accounting costs in relation to decision-
making processes and the implementation of projects funded by the neighbourhood portion 
of the CIL, and it is anticipated that these staff-related costs will be borne by the Council’s 
Community Involvement and Inclusion work. 

 
4.2  To date, CIL Liability Notices for more than £800,000 have been issued (CIL Demand 

Notices are subsequently issued when development commences), and over £300,000 has 
been received.  At 15% of total CIL receipts, the neighbourhood portion of CIL receipts 
therefore currently equates to £45,000. 

  
5. Section 151 Officer comments: 
 
5.1  The Section 151 Officer notes the proposals and will work with the Assistant Director City 

Development and the Community Involvement and Inclusion Officer to ensure that the 
spend of the neighbourhood portion of the CIL is appropriately administered and accounted 
for, bearing in mind the decision-making procedures to be put in place and the Council’s 
ultimate retention of accountability. 

 
6. What are the legal aspects? 
  
6.1   There are three main issues as follows: 
 

- The ECF is not currently constituted such that the neighbourhood portion of the CIL 
can be transferred to its control, hence the Council needs to retain accounting and 
decision-making responsibilities. 

- The City Council is currently prohibited from borrowing against future CIL receipts to 
forward fund infrastructure delivery.  Hence, CIL receipts cannot be spent until they 
have accumulated sufficiently to fund projects.  This will affect decisions on spending 
the neighbourhood portion of the CIL, as it does CIL spend decisions generally. 

- The CIL regulations (specifically regulation 59F, as amended) provide for the Council to 
set aside a proportion of CIL receipts for spend in neighbourhoods, and Council’s 
Executive resolved to set aside 15% of CIL receipts for this purpose on 10 February 
2015 

 



7.  Monitoring officer Comments 
 
The Monitoring Officer has raised no issues beyond those set out in paragraph 6.1 above.   

 
8. Report Details: 
 
8.1 The Exeter Community Strategy promotes community–led development. This is about 

reflecting the importance of the views and actions of communities, when making policy and 
delivering actions.  It is about increasing the capacity of: 

 

 People as active citizens, through their community groups, organisations and networks; 
and, 

 Enabling institutions and agencies (public, private and non-governmental) to work in 
dialogue with citizens to shape and determine change in their communities.  

 
8.2  Vision and priorities – the Exeter Community Strategy vision is:   
 

Exeter is a city where communities lead development, helping create a city where  
everyone has access to places and services which enable them to meet their needs. 
 
(Note that the reference to ‘development’ is to community development, not city 
development, although the two are obviously inter-related)   
 

8.3  The vision has been created from priorities identified by communities, some of which 
concern places, others people. Some of these are as below: 
 

 Places 
 

 All communities have access to good meeting space and other facilities 

 There are exciting and well-used community spaces 

 There is suitable social and private housing for everyone. 

 There is high quality transport infrastructure  
 
People 
 

 Communities have a voice and make a difference 

 People from different groups feel included 

 People from all communities have opportunities to become fitter and healthier.  

 Communities know what others are doing 
 

See page 5 of the strategy for more information. 
 

8.4 The Community Strategy recognises the need to address some key issues in the first few 
years of implementation. These include: 

 

 The need for wider understanding of, and support for, community-led development 
across the city 

 The need for Exeter City Council to work with community and voluntary 
organisations to agree and implement a single policy and process for transferring 
land, buildings and other assets to community ownership or management; 

 The need to develop partnerships with councils, statutory agencies and other 
organisations so that community led development is supported, community 
participation is embedded throughout service planning and delivery and duplication 
is avoided; and, 

 The need to build the capacity of community organisations to lead community 
development. 

 
See page 8 of the Community Strategy for more information.  



 
9 How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 
 
9.1  Adoption of the Exeter Community Strategy helps us to achieve the Corporate Plan 

objective of Supporting Exeter’s Communities – Communities in Exeter know best what 
facilities are needed in their areas and where investment should be prioritised. We 
recognise that community and voluntary groups have an important role to play in helping us 
to shape and deliver services in new ways. We will continue to provide support to the 
community and voluntary sector to achieve a range of positive outcomes for our 
communities through co-design and co-delivery. 

 
10 What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 

 
10.1  CIL receipts are dependent on development happening on the ground in that CIL Demand 

Notices can only be issued when development commences.  CIL cannot be used to forward 
fund projects unless a party other than the City Council is willing to borrow against those 
receipts to deliver the project.  In this context, it will take some time for the neighbourhood 
portion of CIL to accumulate into a more sizeable pot with which to address some of the 
priorities identified by the ECS.  A change for the worse in macro-economic circumstances 
has the potential to seriously affect the accumulation of CIL receipts in general.  There are 
therefore some risks that community expectations may not be fulfilled because of lack of 
funding or funding which is slow to materialise. 

 
11 What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and wellbeing; 

safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, community safety and 
the environment? 
 

1.1  Supporting the capacity of community organisations to take initiatives, including through 
identifying priorities for the use of CIL, has the potential to support a wide range of groups 
across the city and thereby address issues such as equality and diversity, health and 
wellbeing, etc. 
 

12 Are there any other options? 
 

12.1  No. 
 
 
 
 
Richard Short 
Assistant Director City Development 
 
Dawn Rivers 
Community Involvement and Inclusion Officer 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 
Background papers used in compiling this report:- 

 
None 
 

Contact for enquires:  
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 2.3 
01392 265275 
 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Exeter Community Strategy 

 

 

Draft 2 for consultation until 24th February 2016 

 

www.exetercommunityforum.net 

  



 

 
 

Contents 

 1 . Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 History and context ....................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 The Exeter Community Strategy is a shared vision ....................................................................... 1 

2 . The statement of principles of community-led development ........................................................ 2 

2.1 The principles of community-led development ...................................................................... 3 

2.2. The engagement principles ..................................................................................................... 4 

3 . Vision and priorities ........................................................................................................................ 5 

4 . Delivering the vision ........................................................................................................................ 5 

5. Approach to the strategy and investment ...................................................................................... 6 

6. Action plan years 1-3 ...................................................................................................................... 7 

6.1 Programme 1: Supporting community plans .......................................................................... 9 

6.2 Programme 2: Supporting community action ........................................................................ 9 

6.3 Programme 3: Supporting community collaboration ........................................................... 10 

7. Delivering the strategy .................................................................................................................. 10 

7.1 Direct grants .......................................................................................................................... 10 

7.2 Crowd-funding ...................................................................................................................... 10 

7.3 Increasing the scale of delivery ............................................................................................. 11 

8. 2019 and beyond .......................................................................................................................... 12 

9. Decision-making criteria ............................................................................................................... 12 

10. Appendix:  Community issues and ambitions   See accompanying document 

 

 



 

1 

 

1 . Introduction 

The Exeter Community Strategy will underpin community-led development in the city for ten years from 

2016.  It will provide a way for the community to take lead, build its capacity to own and manage assets, 

fund and deliver initiatives and services, work with partners, and disburse financial support for community 

initiatives.  It is based on a statement of principles of community-led development to which partners are 

invited to sign up, and will embody openness and accountability in all its activities.  

1.1  History and context 

The Exeter Community Strategy has grown out of two complementary developments, one within Exeter 

communities, and the other within Exeter City Council 

In 2014, co-operation between a number of community-led groups engaged in the planning process led to 

Exeter Community Forum being created.  The forum allows community associations to meet formally with 

other groups, alongside local councillors, to promote community-led development.  In particular, it 

examined how the neighbourhood portion of the Community Infrastructure Levy (“the neighbourhood CIL”) 

should be allocated.   

The CIL is a planning charge imposed on development, which is used to pay for infrastructure to support that 

development.  The neighbourhood portion is 15% of the levy, which can be spent on addressing the 

demands development places on an area. 

In early 2015, Exeter City Council decided the neighbourhood CIL should be on spent developing and 

implementing a community-level strategy for addressing the demands of development.  It endorsed a 

bottom-up approach, noting that community groups had undertaken to engage with others across the city 

regarding a process for allocating the neighbourhood CIL. 

During 2015 Exeter Community Forum engaged local facilitators from CAG Consultants to help them develop 

the strategy, and in particular identify the needs and aspirations of groups and individuals across the city.  To 

do this, a series of community consultation events were held, and existing community plans and survey 

reports were reviewed.   

At the same time, Exeter City Council and other agencies and organisations were consulted in a variety of 

ways.  Many councillors attended consultation events in their wards, and meetings were held with council 

officers.  Voluntary sector organisations also contributed ideas and recommended approaches to addressing 

community needs. 

The Exeter Community Strategy is the distillation of this work.  It shows how community-led development, 

supported by a wide range of partners, and paid for by the neighbourhood CIL and other investment, can 

achieve its vision. 

1.2  The Exeter Community Strategy is a shared vision 

The Exeter Community Strategy reflects the shared vision of Exeter communities and Exeter City Council.  

Both have signed up [Note: this is the proposed final text – this work has been undertaken in conjunction 

with Exeter City Council which is in the process of reviewing and adopting the strategy] to its principles of 

commitment to community-led development, and both intend to work together to realise the vision.  They 

http://www.cagconsultants.co.uk/


 

2 

 

invite other partners, including statutory and voluntary agencies, to join them by signing up to the principles, 

which are described in section 2, and collaborate in the delivery of the work programme. 

While the principles will not change, the Exeter Community Strategy is a living document.  It will develop as 

communities develop, and change as needs and opportunities change.  By doing so, it will be relevant and 

valuable into the future. 

2 . The statement of principles of community-led development  

This strategy promotes community-led development.  This is a way of strengthening civil society by reflecting 

the importance of the views and actions of communities, when making policy and delivering actions.  It 

empowers local communities, by increasing the capacity of: 

 people as active citizens, through their community groups, organisations and networks, and 

 Institutions and agencies (public, private and non-governmental) to work in dialogue with citizens to 

shape and determine change in their communities1.  

Community-led development is desirable because it:  

 establishes strong communities that control and use assets to promote social justice and help 

improve the quality of community life; and 

 helps people to recognise and develop their ability and potential, and organise themselves to 

respond to shared problems and needs.   

Together, these can create a healthy community – that is, one which is good to live in, will continue, and is 

fair.  Figure 1 shows how such a healthy community needs to be working, caring, safe and creative, and 

belong to its citizens.  In turn, those things are achieved through personal development, positive action, 

communities organising, and people participating. 

                                                           
1
 http://www.scdc.org.uk/who/what-is-community-development/ 

http://www.scdc.org.uk/who/what-is-community-development/


 

3 

 

Figure 1: How a healthy community is built on the elements of community development 

 

Community-led development will also help the Exeter Community Strategy to: 

 support communities to deliver effective actions 

 increase the effectiveness of CIL spend 

 Increase the sustainability of projects supported 

2.1 The principles of community-led development 

Community-led development requires the commitment and active participation of citizens and councils and 

other agencies.  To help establish this, the Exeter Community Strategy invites community groups, local 

authorities and statutory agencies, voluntary sector organisations and businesses to sign up to the following 

set of principles of community-led development.2 

Exeter City Council has adopted a statement of community involvement, as required by the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, designed to strengthen community involvement and improve the quality of 

the planning process.  The statement of principles of community-led development complements, and is 

wider than, this.  It moves beyond planning, to: define healthy communities; provide a focus on specific 

areas which need to be addressed to create them; show how they can be achieved, and invites commitment. 

                                                           
2
  http://www.scdc.org.uk/who/what-is-community-development/ Note:  The final principles, Evidence of Commitment, 

have been added. 

http://exeter.gov.uk/media/1651/statement-of-community-involvement.pdf
http://www.scdc.org.uk/who/what-is-community-development/


 

4 

 

Statement of Principles of Community-Led Development 

Community-led development is essential to the creation of healthy communities. It is 
underpinned by principles which define its purpose, focus, and the methods used to deliver 
it.   

Purpose: 

People want to live in healthy communities. These are communities in which they: 

 feel able to be who they are 

 have positive prospects for their future 

 experience respect and equal and fair treatment 

Focus 

To achieve this people want to be in a community that: 

 creates wealth and gives everyone access to its benefits 

 cares for all its members, when they need it, throughout their life span 

 provides an environment that is safe and attractive 

 enables people to express and celebrate their creativity and diverse cultures 

 enables everyone to participate in decisions that affect their lives 

Methods 

To support people to contribute to the creation of such a community, community 
development: 

 promotes opportunity for people to learn and develop their own skills 

 reaches out to and involves those who may be excluded or disadvantaged 

 helps communities to create organisations that can tackle their needs and 
represent their interests 

 works to promote engagement and dialogue between communities and 
agencies that affect their lives 
 

Evidence of commitment 

A commitment to a community-led development is shown by, among other things:  

 Partner agencies reflecting community development commitment in their 
strategies and delivery 

 Enabling communities to decide and deliver 

 Partnerships working to come up with solutions 
 

 

2.2 The engagement principles  

In addition to the above principles, the strategy adopts a set of engagement principles designed to ensure it 

is fair, transparent and accountable.  They were used throughout the strategy development process, and will 

be applied in all future community engagement. 

The engagement principles are that the communication and consultation process: 

 is underpinned by fairness, equality and inclusion. 



 

5 

 

 Will be community-led and accountable, [being led by the Exeter Community Forum] and reflecting 

the views of local residents.   

 Will be transparent and accessible.  There will be clear processes for participating, and the results of 

the process will be clearly reported. 

3 . Vision and priorities 

The Exeter Community Strategy vision is: 

 

Exeter is a city where communities lead development, helping create a city where everyone has 
access to the places and services which enable them to meet their needs, and lead fulfilling lives. 

 

This vision has been created from priorities identified by communities.  The priorities, some of which 

concerned places, and others people, are summarised below. 

Places 

 All communities have access to good meeting space and other facilities. 

 There is sufficient and suitable social and private housing for everyone. 

 There is high quality transport infrastructure - including roads and interchanges. 

 Everyone can access good public transport within one mile. 

 All the city has a clean and healthy environment. 

 There are exciting and well-used community spaces. 

People 

 Communities have a voice and make a difference. 

 Communities maintain their identity while being networked. 

 People from different groups feel included. 

 Education is accessible for the whole community. 

 People from all communities have opportunities to become fitter and healthier. 

 Everyone has the chance to have fun. 

 Economic wellbeing and a living wage are available for everyone. 

 Families facing challenges have the support they need. 

 Communities know what others are doing. 
 

4 . Delivering the vision  

People were asked to give suggestions about how the priorities could be addressed, to realise the vision.  

The following suggestions by communities recurred frequently: 

Places 

1. New or renovated community buildings.  These buildings would be for everyone, but people noted 

particular needs for: 

a. Improved facilities in community buildings for young people, and providing youth hubs;  

b. Community cafes, particularly for older people, and young mothers. 

2. Retaining green spaces, and in particular enhancing local parks, increasing access to the Ludwell and 

Hoopern Valleys, and improving access to allotments. 



 

6 

 

3. Creating and improving access to sport and games facilities, including football pitches, sports club 

buildings, play areas and multi-use games areas. 

4. Addressing transport issues, including making walking and cycling safer, using separate paths, 

improving bus services and reducing traffic jams, air pollution and parking problems. 

5. Providing access to health, through new or improved surgeries and healthy living centres. 

People 

6. Improving access to information on what activities are available and future development plans, and 

increasing the level of communication from Exeter City Council. 

7. Ensuring inclusion, particularly of ethnic minorities, older people and young people, including by 

providing youth workers. 

 

Other suggestions were mentioned less frequently, but are also important: 

Places 

8. Retaining the look and feel of local streets, including with independent shops, and support for local 

businesses. 

9. Improving housing, through affordable starter homes and sheltered accommodation. 

People 

10. Addressing the challenges or a large student population, including by increasing communication 

between local people and the university and Exeter College, and reducing the number of houses in 

multiple occupation. 

11. Increasing the number of community workers. 

Each community which participated in the work leading to this strategy also provided considerable detail 

about what was needed in their particular locality.  It is vital that this detail is reflected in the strategy’s 

implementation.  For this reason, that detail has been collated into a set of mindmaps, which form an 

appendix to the strategy.  Both the suggestions listed in this section, and the detail in the mindmaps, can be 

addressed in the action plans which implement this strategy, and in funding decisions.   

5 5. Approach to the strategy and investment 

The strategy’s approach reflects four ambitions: 

1. That the strategy should be community-led throughout its life, and change as the city, and 

the people and communities within it, change.  To ensure this happens, it will be important 

that there is a mechanism to ensure communication between organisations in communities 

across the city.  The Exeter Community Forum has been established for this purpose, and it 

is recommended that the Forum continue to operate to enable it to oversee progress on and 

propose changes to the strategy as they are needed. 

2. To increase the confidence and capacity of community organisations to develop their own 

activities, and secure funding for them beyond any grant made under one of the 

programmes in this strategy. 

3. To complement other investment taking place across the city, either directly, by providing 

match funding for key initiatives that help to achieve the strategy aims, or indirectly, by 

supporting a complementary initiative.  An example of this is supporting community 



 

7 

 

organising;  the organisers who are recruited may well help people access initiatives 

supported by other investment streams in the city 

4. To stimulate joint commitment.  Part of this comes from encouraging dialogue and joint 

activity between organisations and agencies working within each community.  One way of 

many ways to help achieve this would be for such organisations and agencies to be located 

in the same building.  (Examples of this include the Health Hub at Wat Tyler house and 

increasing numbers of third sector agencies based at the Civic Centre – Exeter Pound, 

Ubuntu Counselling Service, Multi-Lingua Interpreting Services, Exeter CAB and Flying Start 

Children’s centre.  )  

5. Another element comes from organisations signing up to the principles to reflect them in 

their own policy and practice.  Exeter City Council has already demonstrated its commitment 

through its community involvement and social inclusion resource. It is envisaged that this 

officer will continue to have a central role in supporting and co-ordinating the delivery of the 

joint activity laid out in the strategy. 

6 6. Action plan years 1-3 

The aim of the first action plan will be to identify and address key issues, so that community-led 

development principles become embedded in city-wide policy development and service delivery, and to 

provide support for community planning, action and investment. 

Some key issues have already been identified.  They are shown in Table 1, with a proposed way of addressing 

each.  Others will be added as the three programmes within the action plan are developed and delivered. 

Table 1: Key issues for the first three years 

Issue Proposed way of addressing the issue 

1. Enabling community development 

The need for wider understanding of, and 
support for, community-led development across 
the city.  

 Provide information regarding the principles 
of community-led development to Exeter 
City Council councillors, officers and staff in 
other statutory and voluntary agencies, and 
encourage those agencies to sign up to, and 
apply, them. 

 Develop and deliver a community action 
programme 

 Review progress on the adoption of this 
approach across agencies. 



 

8 

 

The need to facilitate community action.  

The need to build the capacity of community 
groups and organisations to lead community 
development.  

 Develop and deliver community planning 
and investment programmes  

 Discussion and agreement on how to 
address specific barriers to community 
developments issues including skills 
development, legal, governance and 
management structures and obtaining 
affordable and appropriate insurance. 

 Develop a process to enable community 
plans to inform the delivery of services and 
supplementary planning guidance where 
appropriate. 

2. Service design and delivery 

The need to develop partnerships with councils, 

statutory agencies and other organisations so 

that community-led development is supported, 

community participation is embedded 

throughout service planning and delivery and 

duplication is avoided.  

Continue to meet organisations across the city as 

this strategy is delivered to identify 

opportunities to work together. 

The need to develop a policy for devolution of 

services to the community, to both empower 

communities to deliver their own solutions as it 

becomes more difficult for councils and other 

statutory agencies to deliver them directly. 

Hold early and detailed discussions between the 

Exeter Community Forum and council officers to 

identify the issues, solutions and draw up an 

agreed policy and process 

Involve other organisations and agencies 

relevant to the service area. 

3. Asset and facility ownership and transfer 

Exeter City Council and Exeter Community Forum 
agree that asset transfer can be an appropriate 
option in some cases. They also recognise its 
place in relation to the community right to 
challenge and to bid .  It would be useful to 
increase clarity between Exeter Community 
Forum/other community/charitable 
organisations, and Exeter City Council 
councillors/officers who may be involved with 
transferring  assets (such as green spaces and 
community buildings), on the policy and process, 
which acknowledges and addresses the many 
challenges involved.  Such challenges include 
ensuring an appropriately constituted, governed 
and insured community entity is in place to 
receive assets and consistent and transparent 
application of policy across ECC. 

 

 The need for Exeter City Council to work with 
community and voluntary organisations to agree 
and implement a single policy and process for 
transferring land, buildings and other assets to 
community ownership or management or both, 
and access to appropriate support and training 
to officers and organisations going through the 
process. 

 



 

9 

 

6.1 Programme 1: Supporting community plans 

A community plan identifies local problems and opportunities, sets out an achievable and long term vision 

for the future, and prepares a plan of action to achieve the vision.  It is crucial to community-led 

development because it provides a framework for delivering activity which has been developed by the 

community.  It can also contribute to decision-making through the supplementary planning guidance and 

help authorities in decision making and the delivery of services. 

While some Exeter communities, such as Topsham and Priory, have at least fledgling community plans, (and 

St James has a neighbourhood plan), many do not.3  This programme is designed to fill that gap, and to 

support plans for ‘natural’ communities, which may well be different from wards.  They do not necessarily 

need to be geographic, and suggestions for plans for communities of identity, such as young people, will be 

considered.  Such plans may be developed to whatever timetable is most appropriate – for example, a plan 

may be developed by young people over a period of a few weeks rather than many months. 

The programme will pay for a community planning facilitator who will help communities, particularly those 

which have the greatest need, to prepare and produce plans and offer capacity building support and 

training.  The facilitator may be hosted by a community organisation to act as a central resource covering the 

whole city.  As well as advice and some facilitation, the officer will help communities identify and secure 

sources of funding to complete their plans, including from the Awards for All programme.  This programme 

will also provide support for child care and similar intervention to maximise the opportunities for people to 

participate. The output will be six community plans in development or completed by March 2019. 

6.2 Programme 2: Supporting community action 

Community action is at the heart of community-led development.  This programme will promote it through:  

1. Supporting community organising.  This can include any initiative which seeks to bring people 

together, to achieve a specific objective, or increase quality of life.  One element will to build 

capacity among people living within communities to develop solutions to the problems they face, 

rather than taking a direct lead in solving them.  Community organisers have been shown to be very 

effective, for example in Wonford.  The programme will work with partners to match fund organisers 

in other communities.  Where a community plan is being supported in particular area, the 

community organiser will work closely with the community plan facilitator, to ensure as many 

people as possible are able to take part in developing and implementing the plan. 

2. Supporting community initiatives.  This can include projects identified and promoted by small 

groups of people and new or established community-led organisations, provided they can 

demonstrate community support and meet local needs.  

The outputs will be: 

1. x community organising initiatives supported. 

2. x joint delivery activities delivered. 

3. x community initiatives supported each year. 

 

                                                           
3
  Though some have completed community consultations, including Exwick, and Alphington (which has conducted a 

community needs survey). 

https://priorycf.wordpress.com/community-plan/
http://www.exeter.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=18077&p=0.
https://www.biglotteryfund.org.uk/england/global-content/programmes/england/awards-for-all-england
http://www.corganisers.org.uk/


 

10 

 

6.3 Programme 3: Supporting community collaboration 

This programme will be delivered through a community collaboration fund. The fund will: 

1. support joint activity among community organisations, or between community organisations 

and local authorities or other agencies, and 

2. be accessible to partners who have signed up to the principles of community-led development. 

7 7. Delivering the strategy 

The strategy will be delivered by two mechanisms: direct grants and partnering with online funding 

mechanisms.  This section describes them, and also shows how the scale of delivery will be increased by 

increasing the amount of finance available for investment. 

7.1 Direct grants 

This strategy will put in place a grant-making mechanism with the following features: 

1. Transparency, regarding decision-making criteria and the identity and interests of panel members. 

2. A grant assessment panel which includes equal representation from: 

 Community member[s] active in their community and enable a way to include young people 

on the panel.  

 Partner participation, with an Exeter City Council councillor as a regular panel member, and 

the Exeter City and Devon County councillors for the ward, where a project is based, able to 

comment.  

3. An application and approval process which is simple, and as fast as is reasonable.  The process will 

be developed in detail at the start of the strategy’s delivery phase. 

The administration of this programme will be straightforward as possible.  It will require funding and the 

option of administration delivered by community enabling team at ECC and other options will be examined).  

The opportunity will be explored to source part of this funding from on CIL money held on deposit.  

7.2 Crowd-funding and Web-Based Fundraising 

Crowdfunding is a way of raising finance for a project or business by asking a large number of people to each 

provide a (usually) small amount of money.  Most crowd-funding involves using the internet.  There are 

many websites offering slightly different approaches.  Some invite donations, while others offer gifts, a 

financial return, or a share in a business in return. 

Localgiving.com allows community groups and other local organisations which have charitable aims, but are 

not registered charities, to invite donations, and receive gift aid.   

Most crowdfunding websites do not require organisations to have charitable aims.  Crowdfunder was used 

very successfully in Plymouth as a way of allocating the neighbourhood CIL.   

The benefits of a crowdfunding approach to the strategy include: 

1. It is community-led, because any organisation within the city may list a project. 

2. It specifies a guaranteed minimum level of match for CIL money invested, thus facilitating more 

financial support to an initiative than would be available from CIL alone.  Plymouth City Council 

offered 50% match for selected projects. 

https://localgiving.com/
http://www.crowdfunder.co.uk/
http://www.crowdfunder.co.uk/campaign/crowdfund-plymouth/


 

11 

 

3. It provides a simple mechanism for assessing projects and paying funds to the recipient. 

4. It creates the opportunity to support projects which would not come forward through a traditional 

grant-making programme. 

5. It allows a quick response to changing needs, without the requirement to change grant parameters. 

Exeter Community Forum will approach providers of crowdfunding websites to identify a suitable partner.  It 

will then develop and publicise a crowdfunding programme with one of them, with the following features: 

1. Any emerging or existing community-led organisation in Exeter may publicise an initiative through 

the website. 

2. Support will be available for people with limited access to, or skills in using, the internet. 

3. Exeter Community Forum will publicise, from time to time, the types of projects it will consider 

supporting. 

4. Exeter Community Forum will review newly listed projects, and assess them against its criteria, to 

decide whether to pledge match funding. 

5. Exeter Community Forum will pledge x% match funding for selected projects up to a maximum 

(initially £x). 

7.3 Increasing the scale of delivery  

The amount of money available to the strategy from CIL is limited, and may well vary considerably from the 

initial projection. As described in this plan the funds will be used in a particular way to stimulate and support 

community action to meet unmet need in communities, especially, but not exclusively, those affect by 

development. These funds will not replace other funds nor be the only source of funding available to 

communities.  

To sustain the planned level of delivery, and ideally to increase it, it will be necessary to secure investment 

from other sources.  This will be done in three ways: 

1. By securing investment from partners, working with Exeter City Council and other agencies to 

identify other funding which can be used to deliver the strategy.  Some of this might be direct 

investment, such as New Homes Bonus money.  More is likely to be indirect, such as where an 

existing partner programme can be adjusted to help deliver community objectives, or its investment 

can be shown as match in a funding proposal. 

 

Councillor grants (both Exeter City and Devon County) have a particularly important role to play as 

councillors have a very strong understanding of community needs within their wards.  They can 

provide the seed money needed for new initiatives, which may then grow and move onto seeking 

funding under this strategy.  

 

2. By securing investment from communities.  This might come from individuals or community 

organisations pledging investment, directly or through, for example, crowdfunding described above.   

 

3. By securing investment from beyond Exeter.  Some of this might also come from crowd-funding, 

where an Exeter-based project captures the imagination of people further afield.  Some might come 

from helping community organisations secure grant funding from Reaching Communities or other 

funders.  Another source will be philanthropic giving, through which wealthy individuals will be 

https://www.biglotteryfund.org.uk/prog_reaching_communities


 

12 

 

encouraged to match community funds, particularly for projects with charitable objectives (and so 

attract gift aid). 

The outputs will be: 

1. x direct investment secured additional to CIL. 

2. x community investment secured per year, and 

3. x investment secured from beyond Exeter. 

8 8. 2019 and beyond 

During the first three years, and following a review of progress, Exeter Community Forum and its partners 

will develop an action plan for 2019-2022.  This will have the following features, among others: 

1. A greater emphasis than the first action plan on comparatively high cost initiatives, such as new 

community buildings, or major green space projects, 

2. Supporting community-led service delivery. 

As part of developing this action plan, the feasibility of developing a long-term capital fund will be examined. 

9 9. Decision-making criteria 

A community-led approach to development requires that communities have a role in deciding the criteria for 

the allocation of funding for community activities.  In recognition of this, participants in the community 

events were asked to identify and prioritise the criteria they would like to see adopted.  The results are 

shown in the chart which forms Figure 2. 

The chart shows that the five most important criteria, in order, were: 

1. The neighbourhood has great unmet need. 

2. The location is particularly affected by development. 

3. The project improves the environment and green spaces. 

4. The project has strong community support. 

5. The project helps groups of people, for example older or younger people. 

 

Other criteria must also be taken into account in decision-making on funding, and these include: 

6. Fit to the legal requirements for expenditure of neighbourhood CIL.  The relevant parameters are 

wide. 

7. Fit to the Exeter Community Forum strategy, and ability to contribute to its vision, priorities and 

suggestions for their delivery. 

8. Reflects particular needs of the community where the project will take place. 

 

These criteria will be taken into account in all the delivery programmes described above. 

 



 

13 

 

Figure 2: ECS Criteria for Assessing Proposals: Prioritisation by participants in community events 

 

Note:  The numbers indicate the relative support for each criterion. 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

2 

5 

5 

7 

8 

8 

8 

8 

8 

8 

9 

10 

14 

14 

15 

28 

29 

31 

33 

39 

Spreads finance equally through city areas 

Prioritises cycling 

Supports people-friendly transport solutions 

Ongoing dialogue of what is needed 

Affordable housing 

Exwick: no develop't without  better roads 
[summarised] 

Addresses traffic, parking or pollution 

Helps marginalised or vulnerable people 
[summarised] 

Addresses council objectives 

LISTENS to our [Countess Wear] community  

Promotes social cohesion 

Promotes long term sustainability 

Uses available buildings and assets more 
flexibly 

Asset transfer involved 

Most impact for the money 

Community empowerment 

Addresses community need 

Clear fit to the ECS vision 

Improves health and well-being and quality of 
life 

Matching funds available 

Strong community support 

Helps  groups of people, e.g. older or younger 

Improves the environment and green spaces 

Location particularly affected by development 

Neighbourhood has great unmet need 





REPORT TO:  SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - COMMUNITY 
DATE OF MEETING: 1 March 2016 
REPORT OF:  Assistant Director Finance 
TITLE: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring - December 

2015 
 

Is this a Key Decision? 
No 
 
Is this an Executive or Council Function? 
Council 
 

1. What is the report about? 
 

  To advise Members of any major differences, by management unit, between the approved 
budget and the outturn forecast for the nine months of the financial year up to 31 December 
2015 in respect of the Housing Revenue Account and the Council’s new build schemes. 
 
A budget monitoring update in respect of the HRA Capital Programme is also incorporated 
into this report in order to help provide a comprehensive financial update in respect of the 
Housing Revenue Account. 
 
In addition to the budgetary over/under-spends reported to this committee, Appendix 1 also 
highlights further areas of risk, so that Members are aware that certain budgets have been 
identified as being vulnerable to factors beyond the control of the Council, which may result 
in potential deviations from budget, and are therefore subject to close monitoring, by 
officers. 

 
2. Recommendations: 

 
that Members of Scrutiny Committee - Community note the content of this report to 
satisfy themselves that officers are taking action to address the key areas of 
budgetary pressure highlighted in this report. 

 
3. Reasons for the recommendation: 

 
 The Housing Revenue Account is a statutory account and local housing authorities have a 

duty to keep an HRA in accordance with proper accounting practices and to review the 
account throughout the year.  This is the third quarterly financial update in respect of the 
HRA for 2015-16. 

 
4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources 

 
 The financial resources required to deliver both housing services to Council tenants and to 

invest in new and existing housing stock during 2015-16 are set out in the body of this 
report. 

 
5. Section 151 Officer comments: 

 
 This report has been prepared on behalf of the Section 151 Officer to set out the financial 

position of the Housing Revenue Account, as at 31 December 2015. 
 
6. What are the legal aspects? 

 
 The Housing Revenue Account is framed by the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  

This Act created the ring-fence and the structure within which the HRA operates and covers 



the detailed operation of the HRA, including the credits (income) and debits (expenditure) 
which make up the account. 

 
7. Monitoring Officer Comments: 

 
Clearly any budget overspend requires careful management. The Monitoring Officer is 
satisfied that this report highlights any areas which require careful attention. 
 

 
8. Report Details: 
 

HRA BUDGET MONITORING TO 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 
8.1 Projected Surplus/Deficit 

 
During this period the total budget variances indicate that there will be a net deficit of 
£1,281,066 in 2015-16.  This represents a decrease of £1,678,116 compared to the revised 
budgeted deficit of £2,959,182 for 2015-16; the main deviations from budget are set out 
below.  Please also refer to Appendix 2. 
 

Budget 
Heading 

Forecast Budget 
Variance  

  
(Under)/Overspend 

Explanation 

Budgeted Deficit £2,189,182  

Supplementary 
budget for 
continuation of 
Warden Service 

£182,000 Executive approved 17 March 2015 

Supplementary 
budget for Low 
Maintenance 
and Painting 

£221,000 Executive approved 14 July 2015 

Supplementary 
budget for Damp 
Ingress 

£367,000 Executive approved 14 July 2015 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Deficit 

£2,959,182  

Budget 
variances 
reported in June 

(£625,391) Scrutiny Committee – Community 8 
September 2015 

Budget 
variances 
reported in 
September 

(£549,855) Scrutiny Committee – Community 10 
November 2015 

Budget 
variances to be 
reported in 
December 

  

Management 
Costs 

(£86,310)  The introduction of mobile working in housing 
services is progressing with the acquisition of 
handheld devices, however further spend is 
pending a wider review of the housing 
management IT system. It is therefore 
estimated that a further £20,000 of the 
budget will need to be deferred until 2016-17 



in addition to the £50,000 reported in Quarter 
1. 
 

 The delay in full implementation of mobile 
working has also reduced the amount of 
training costs which has resulted in a 
forecast underspend. 

 

 The hosting of a tenant and leaseholder 
conference is now planned during 2016-17 
and the expected costs have been factored 
into next year’s budgets.  The 2015-16 
budget is therefore reported as a saving. 
 

Housing 
Customers 

£18,550  Additional employee costs have been 
incurred in respect of covering long term 
sickness. 

 

Sundry Lane 
Maintenance 

£7,000    Reflects the cost of essential works to trees 
in residential gardens.  A compensating 
saving has been made in the capital budget 
for Estate Improvements. 

 

Repairs and 
Maintenance 
Programme 

(£393,000)    (£150k) Planned re-pointing works have not 
been undertaken during 2015-16 as 
contractors have concentrated on delivering 
the damp ingress contract which has placed 
a constraint on resources.  Such works will 
now be deferred until both contractors and 
up-to-date stock condition data is available in 
order to support a future programme of re-
pointing works. 
 

   (£150k) A saving in general reactive repairs 
is expected to be achieved, in part due to a 
nil inflationary rise agreed with the main 
contractor and also a minor reduction in the 
average repair cost compared to 2014-15. 

 

   (£100k) A saving in the cost of repairs to void 
properties is expected to be achieved, in part 
due to a nil inflationary rise agreed with the 
main contractor. 

 

   Other minor budget variances are expected 
in respect of service and maintenance 
contract costs and asbestos removal costs. 

Housing Assets (£29,110)    Reflects further savings in respect of 
employee costs due to vacant posts. 
 

   Budgetary provision was made for the cost of 
decanting tenants from properties that were 
considered at risk of requiring major 
structural works.  However, following 
structural monitoring, it was confirmed that 
no major works are necessary. 



Interest (£20,000)    The interest earned on HRA balances 
(Working Balance, Major Repairs Reserve 
and capital receipts) will be higher than 
budgeted, as savings in revenue and capital 
expenditure for 2015-16 will result in higher 
than anticipated HRA balances. 

Total budget 
variances 

(£502,870)  

Projected HRA 
deficit 

£1,281,066 
 

Transfer from HRA Working Balance 

 
8.2 Impact on HRA Working Balance 

 
The HRA Working Balance represents amounts set aside to help facilitate service 
improvements, repay debt or to provide investment in the stock in future financial years.   
 
The forecast balance, as at 31 March 2016, is set out below:   

  

Movement 2015/16 

Opening HRA Working Balance, as at 
1/4/15 

£7,736,532 

Deficit for 2015/16 (£1,281,066) 

Balance resolved to be retained (HRA 
contingency) 

(£4,000,000) 

Balance Available, as at 31/3/16 £2,455,466 

 
8.3 HRA Available Resources over the Medium Term 

 
The forecast HRA available resources for delivering both housing services and capital 
investment have been significantly affected by the Government’s announcement in the 
Summer Budget that social rents are to be cut by 1% each year over the next 4 financial 
years; 2016/17 to 2019/20. 
 
In addition to the rent cut, a key financial risk that officers are aware of relates to the High 
Value Assets Levy, which may require the Council to make a payment to the Government in 
respect of its ‘high value’ housing.  Due to the uncertainty regarding the definition of ‘high 
value’ and calculation of the levy payable, it is considered prudent to increase the HRA 
contingency from £3,000,000 to £4,000,000 over the medium term. 
 
Appendix 3 sets out the total forecast HRA available resources up to 2019/20, which 
reflects the increased contingency. 

 
8.4 HRA Capital Programme 

 
The 2015-16 HRA Capital Programme was last reported to Scrutiny Committee – 
Community on 10 November 2015, since that meeting the following changes have been 
made that have decreased the programme.   

 

Description 2015/16 Approval / Funding 

HRA Capital Programme £10,706,689  

Budgets deferred to future 
financial years 

(£1,418,728) Executive 1 December 2015 

Savings declared (£46,000) Executive 1 December 2015  

Acquisition of Social 
Housing 

£90,000 Delegated Powers 

Revised HRA Capital £9,331,961  



Programme 

 
8.5 Performance 

 
The current HRA Capital Programme is detailed in Appendix 4.  The appendix shows a total 
forecast spend of £8,480,533 compared to the £9,331,961 approved programme, a 
decrease of £851,428.   

 
8.6 Capital Budget Variances 

 
 The details of key variances from budget are set out below.   
 

 Scheme Forecast Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Explanation 

Programmed Re-roofing (£41,000) An overspend is expected to 
occur due to additional 
health and safety measures 
at Faraday House including 
the provision of a guard-rail. 
Unexpected roof 
strengthening works have 
also been necessary in order 
to support the insulated roof 
finish.  However, a 
compensating saving will be 
achieved in the re-roofing 
programme. 

Faraday House Roof 
Replacement 

£41,000 

Communal Areas (£29,000) Uncommitted balance 
declared a saving, as works 
identified for 2015-16 
including improvements to 
communal doors and floors 
will be completed under 
budget with only a minor 
element of slippage into 
2016-17 (please see below) 

Electrical Re-wiring (£50,000) A lower than anticipated 
number of void properties 
have required electrical 
rewiring in 2015-16. 

St Loyes Extra Care 
Scheme 

£322,250 The overall scheme costs 
reflect the inclusion of three 
additional units, from 50 to 
53 units, with the scheme 
now submitted for planning 
permission.  The additional 
costs associated with the 
extra units will be met from 
commuted sums. 

 Scheme Budget to be deferred to 
2016/17 

Explanation 

Energy Conservation £31,000 Further spend of this budget 
is pending the identification 
of suitable energy efficiency 
measures in respect of 
housing assets. 

LAINGS refurbishments £100,000 The budget for 



refurbishment of 17 LAINGS 
properties has been re-
profiled in accordance with 
the latest project programme 
with works expected to start 
on site in August ’16. 

Communal Areas £9,000 A change in the asbestos 
removal contractor resulted 
in a minor delay to the 
programme of works. 

Common Area 
Footpath/Wall 
Improvements 

£158,000 Retaining walls at Higher 
Barley Mount are expected 
to start on site in March 
2016 which may result in 
some slippage into 2016-17. 
Consultation with 
leaseholders has also 
delayed other identified 
works not starting on site 
until next financial year. 

Lift Replacement at 98 
Sidwell Street 

£56,000 Contract documents are 
currently being prepared for 
the installation of the lift 
early into 2016-17. 

Electrical Re-wiring £100,000 Responsibility for the 
procurement of electrical 
repairs to communal areas 
transferred directly to the 
HRA following the 
restructure of Property 
Services.  This has resulted 
in works being deferred 
whilst the necessary contract 
arrangements are put in 
place. 

COB Wave 2 – Rennes Car 
Park 

£446,086 The budget for the 
development of this site has 
been re-profiled in 
accordance with the latest 
cash-flow projections.  
Works are now expected to 
start on site in April ’16, as 
the relocation of telecoms 
equipment has contributed 
to delays. 

St Loyes Extra Care 
Scheme 

£118,992 The budget for this new build 
scheme has been re-profiled 
in accordance with the latest 
cash-flow projections 
although the overall 
completion date remains no 
later than 31 March 2018 in 
accordance with the 
Department of Health grant 
conditions. 

Acquisition of Social 
Housing 

£55,600 The Council has committed 
to the purchase of three new 



build properties for use as 
social housing; two are 
expected to complete in 
2015-16 and the third is on a 
different phase of the 
development which is not 
expected to finish until 2016-
17. 

  
9. COUNCIL OWN BUILD BUDGET MONITORING TO 31 DECEMBER 2015 
 

The Council’s own build properties at Rowan House and Knights Place form part of the 
overall Housing Revenue Account, but separate income and expenditure budgets are 
maintained in order to ensure that they are self-financing. 

 
9.1       Projected Surplus/Deficit 
 There are no projected variances to report, as at December.  The budgeted net surplus of 

£37,800 is still projected to be achieved during 2015-16. 
 

MU 
Code 

Management 
Unit 

Budget 
Variance 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Explanation 

85B5 COB £0 There are no significant variances from 
budget to report at this stage.  However, the 
recovery of lost rental income and 
additional costs in previous financial years 
whilst snagging issues were resolved at 
Knights Place form part of a claim to the 
main contractor and have been highlighted 
as an area of budgetary risk. 

 
10. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 

 
The Housing Revenue Account contributes to two key purposes, as set out in the Corporate 
Plan; help me find somewhere suitable to live and maintain our property assets. 

 
11. What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 

 
Areas of budgetary risk are highlighted to committee as part of the quarterly budget 
monitoring updates.  Appendix 1 sets out the risks identified, as at December. 

 
12. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and wellbeing; 

safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, community safety and  
the environment? 
 

 No impact 
 

13. Are there any other options? 
 

 No 
 
Assistant Director Finance 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 
Background papers used in compiling this report: 
None 



 
 
Contact for enquiries: 
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 2.3 
(01392) 265275 



AREAS OF BUDGETARY RISK     APPENDIX 1 
 

A number of areas of budgetary risk have been identified within the HRA, as follows: 
 

Budget Title Approved Budget Risk 

General 
Maintenance 

£1,850,000 (revenue) A cautious level of underspend has 
been reported in December, but this 
could rise depending on the number 
of reported faults in the remaining 
three months of the year.  A rise in 
reported faults has been factored in to 
allow for adverse weather conditions, 
which may or may not occur. 

Rental Income from 
Dwellings 

£18,900,000 (revenue) Right to Buy sales, number of new 
tenancies set at convergence rent 
levels, number of days lost through 
major works, rent lost in respect of 
void properties and welfare reform 
changes (for which an increased bad 
debt provision has been made) all 
impact on the annual rental income.  
Rental income is slightly behind 
profile due to a rise in the level of 
arrears and a rise in the amount of 
rent lost through void properties. 

Common Area 
Footpath/Wall 
Improvements 

£262,430 (capital) Works planned to commence on site 
in March including Thorn 
Close/Vaughan Road and Higher 
Barley Mount are dependent on 
favourable ground conditions and 
could be delayed in the event of water 
saturation. 

Kitchen 
Replacement 
Programme 

£1,418,880 (capital) The number of kitchens which can be 
replaced within approved budgets 
may vary dependent upon the cost of 
associated works such as electrical 
repairs and re-plastering, which varies 
per property.  For 2015-16 it is 
planned that 261 kitchens will be 
replaced. 

Bathroom 
Replacement 
Programme 

£1,253,770 (capital) The number of bathrooms which can 
be replaced within approved budgets 
may vary dependent upon the cost of 
associated works such as re-
plastering, which varies per property.  
For 2015-16 it is planned that 379 
bathrooms will be replaced. 

COB Wave 2 – 
Whipton Methodist 
Church 

£130,397 (capital) There is a risk that a budget 
overspend may occur as a result of 
additional asbestos removal costs 
and seeking a European Protected 
Species licence prior to demolition.  
Total costs are pending agreement of 
the final contract sum. 

Knights Place No budget (capital) Significant works have been required 
to resolve water penetration issues at 
Knights Place and the costs and 
associated lost rental income form 
part of a claim to the main contractor. 

 





APPENDIX 2

 PROFILED 

BUDGET 

 ACTUAL 

TO DATE 

 VARIANCE 

TO DATE 
 Code 

 APPROVED 

BUDGET 

 Qrt 2 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE 

 Qrt 3 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE 

 CURRENT 

OUTTURN 

FORECAST 

£  £  £  £  £  £  £ 

486,206          330,742 (155,464) 85A1 MANAGEMENT 1,267,390 (124,700) (211,010) 1,056,380

797,109          800,716 3,607 85A2 HOUSING CUSTOMERS 1,239,920 11,200 29,750 1,269,670

76,698            73,063 (3,635) 85A3 SUNDRY LAND MAINTENANCE 274,230 (5,000) 2,000 276,230

6,690,448       4,966,368 (1,724,080) 85A4 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE PROGRAMME 8,680,512 (1,039,612) (1,432,612) 7,247,900

0 0 0 85A5 REVENUE CONTRIBUTION TO CAPITAL 5,771,930 0 0 5,771,930

2,484,370 2,550,566 66,196 85A6 CAPITAL CHARGES 2,484,370 66,196 66,196 2,550,566

788,647 711,763 (76,884) 85A7 HOUSING ASSETS 1,222,550 (63,330) (92,440) 1,130,110

(15,768,638) (15,835,247) (66,608) 85A8 RENTS (19,918,280) 0 0 (19,918,280)

989,780 989,780 0 85B2 INTEREST 1,936,560 (20,000) (40,000) 1,896,560

85B4 MOVEMENT TO/(FROM) WORKING BALANCE (2,959,182) 1,175,246 1,678,116 (1,281,066)

Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0

Working Balance        1 April 2015 7,736,532 31 March 2016 6,455,466

  

 PROFILED 

BUDGET 

 ACTUAL 

TO DATE 

 VARIANCE 

TO DATE 
 Code 

 APPROVED 

BUDGET 

 Qrt 2 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE 

 Qrt 3 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE 

 CURRENT 

OUTTURN 

FORECAST 

£  £  £  £  £  £  £ 

(7,390) (8,874) (1,484) H006 ROWAN HOUSE (8,020) 0 0 (8,020)

(45,165) (46,168) (1,003) H007 KNIGHTS PLACE (47,870) (301) (301) (48,171)

0 0 0 H008 INTEREST 6,890 0 0 6,890

11,200 11,501 301 H009 CAPITAL CHARGES 11,200 301 301 11,501

H010 MOVEMENT TO/(FROM) WORKING BALANCE 37,800 0 37,800

Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0

Working Balance        1 April 2015 127,995 31 March 2016 165,795

APRIL 2015 TO DECEMBER 2015

COUNCIL OWN BUILD SITES

ACTUAL TO DATE YEAR END FORECAST

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNTS BUDGET MONITORING 2015-16





APPENDIX 3

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £ £

CAPITAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE

Usable Receipts Brought Forward 945,482

Major Repairs Reserve Brought Forward 5,192,878

Other HRA Sales 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB sales 1,750,000 750,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 4,000,000

Major Repairs Reserve 2,550,566 2,656,950 2,656,950 2,656,950 2,656,950 13,178,366

Revenue Contributions to Capital 5,771,928 4,689,075 6,496,642 4,496,555 2,500,000 23,954,200

External contributions 72,601 0 0 0 0 72,601

HCA funding 0 700,000 700,000 0 0 1,400,000

Commuted sums 617,238 3,578,128 2,364,999 155,003 6,874 6,722,242

Total Resources available 10,762,333 12,374,153 12,718,591 7,808,508 5,663,824 55,465,769

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

HRA Capital Programme 9,331,961 16,117,602 15,881,897 7,886,187 5,369,095 54,586,742

December - Overspends / (Savings) 223,250 223,250

December - Slippage (1,074,678) 643,191 424,590 6,897 0

Total Housing Revenue Account 8,480,533 16,760,793 16,306,487 7,893,084 5,369,095 54,809,992

UNCOMMITTED CAPITAL RESOURCES:

Usable Receipts Brought Forward 945,482 2,105,468 2,355,468 267,884 17,880 945,482

Major Repairs Reserve Brought Forward 5,192,878 6,314,692 1,678,052 177,740 343,168 5,192,878

Resources in Year 10,762,333 12,374,153 12,718,591 7,808,508 5,663,824 49,327,409

Less Estimated Spend (8,480,533) (16,760,793) (16,306,487) (7,893,084) (5,369,095) (54,809,992)

Uncommitted Capital Resources 8,420,160 4,033,520 445,624 361,048 655,777 655,777

WORKING BALANCE RESOURCES:

Balance Brought Forward 7,736,532 6,455,466 6,341,341 4,537,979 4,257,402 7,736,532

HRA Balance Transfer - Surplus/(Deficit) (2,959,182) (44,125) (1,803,362) (280,577) 1,178,563 (3,908,683)

June forecast revenue savings 625,391 (70,000) 555,391

September forecast revenue savings 549,855 549,855

December forecast revenue savings 502,870 502,870

Balance Carried Forward 6,455,466 6,341,341 4,537,979 4,257,402 5,435,965 5,435,965

Balance Resolved to be Retained (4,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000) (3,774,532) (4,000,000) (4,000,000)

2,455,466 2,341,341 537,979 482,870 1,435,965 1,435,965

TOTAL AVAILABLE CAPITAL RESOURCES 10,875,626 6,374,861 983,603 843,918 2,091,742 2,091,742

HRA AVAILABLE RESOURCES





APPENDIX 4

2015-16 Capital 

Programme

2015-16 Spend 2015-16 

Forecast 

Spend

2015-16 Budget 

to be Carried 

Forward to 

Future Years

2015-16 

Programme 

Variances Under 

()

£ £ £ £ £

HRA CAPITAL

7HHOME EVERYONE HAS A HOME

Z4212 Adaptations 595,940 427,234 595,940 0

Z4402 Rendering of Council Dwellings 308,650 181,737 308,650 0

Z4502 MRA Fees 13,380 0 13,380 0

Z4702 Communal Door Entry System 10,000 4,037 10,000 0

Z4703 Environmental Improvements - General 52,080 33,974 52,080 0

Z4705 Programmed Re-roofing 111,000 57,022 70,000 (41,000)

Z4709 Energy Conservation 50,000 0 19,000 31,000 0

Z4717 Smoke Detector Replacements 118,040 110,925 113,040 (5,000)

Z4718 LAINGS Refurbishments 150,010 18,367 50,010 100,000 0

Z4719 Kitchen Replacement Programme 1,418,880 903,866 1,418,880 0

Z4724 Bathroom Replacements Programme 1,253,770 879,945 1,253,770 0

Z4740 Other Works 43,620 27,554 43,620 0

Z4742 Fire Precautionary Works to Flats 291,400 276,687 291,400 0

Z4743 Communal Areas 196,650 62,638 158,650 9,000 (29,000)

Z4745 Structural Repairs 212,940 90,186 212,940 0

Z4755 Rennes House Structural Works 35,840 5,738 35,840 0

Z4758 Common Area Footpath/Wall Improvements 420,430 127,367 262,430 158,000 0

Z4760 Lift Replacement 98 Sidwell Street 56,000 0 56,000 0

Z4761 Replacement Lead Water Mains 20,000 12,811 15,000 (5,000)

Z4763 Soil Vent Pipe Replacement 26,620 11,615 21,620 (5,000)

Z4764 Electrical Central Heating 21,630 14,375 16,630 (5,000)

Z4767 Faraday House Roof Replacement 134,000 27,126 175,000 41,000

Z4802 Electrical Re-wiring 1,147,970 603,635 997,970 100,000 (50,000)

Z4901 Central Heating Programme 73,000 56,304 73,000 0

Z4903 Boiler Replacement Programme 124,230 72,724 124,230 0

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL 6,886,080 4,005,866 6,333,080 454,000 (99,000)

COUNCIL OWN BUILD CAPITAL

Z3214 COB Wave 2 - Rennes Car Park 489,507 22,719 43,421 446,086 0

Z3215 COB Wave 2 - Newport Road 622,138 466,255 622,138 0

Z3218 COB Wave 2 - Whipton Methodist Church 130,397 76,840 130,397 0

Z3219 COB Wave 2 - Bennett Square 158,279 119,179 158,279 0

Z3220 St Loyes ExtraCare 413,980 257,943 617,238 118,992 322,250

Z4751 Acquisition of Social Housing 631,580 236,990 575,980 55,600 0

COUNCIL OWN BUILD TOTAL 2,445,881 1,179,927 2,147,453 620,678 322,250

OVERALL HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL 9,331,961 5,185,793 8,480,533 1,074,678 223,250

2015-16

CAPITAL MONITORING TO 31 DECEMBER 2015





EXETER CITY COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO:  SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - COMMUNITY 
DATE OF MEETING: 1 MARCH 2016  
REPORT OF:  ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FINANCE 
TITLE:   BUDGET MONITORING REPORT TO 31 DECEMBER 2015 

 
Is this a Key Decision? 
No 
 
Is this an Executive or Council Function? 
Council 
 
1. What is the report about? 

This report advises Members of any material differences to the approved budget in respect 
of the Community Services revenue and capital budgets. 
 
Potential areas of budgetary risk are also highlighted in this report, so that Members are 
aware that certain budgets have been identified as being vulnerable to factors beyond the 
control of the Council, which may result in potential deviations from budget, and are 
therefore subject to close monitoring by officers. 

 
2. Recommendations: 

That Members of Scrutiny Committee – Community note the content of this report in 
order to be satisfied that prudent steps are being taken to address the key areas of 
budgetary pressure highlighted in this report. 

 
3. Reasons for the recommendation: 
 Local authorities have a statutory duty to set and monitor their budgets during the year and 

to take any actions necessary because of potential overspending or potential shortfalls in 
income.  Members are therefore presented with a quarterly financial update in respect of 
Community Services. 

 
4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources 
 The financial resources required to deliver Community Services during 2015/16 are set out 

in the body of this report. 
 
5. Section 151 Officer comments: 
 This report has been prepared on behalf of the Section 151 Officer to set out the projected 

financial position of Community Services as at 31 March 2016.  
 
6. What are the legal aspects? 
 Part 2 of the Local Government Act 2003 provides the legislative framework for the process 

of setting and managing budgets.  In particular, Section 28 of the 2003 Act requires local 
authorities to monitor their budgets during the financial year. 

 
7. Monitoring Officer comments: 

 This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer. 
 
8. Report Details: 
 

Community Services Budget Monitoring to 31 December 2015 
 
8.1 Key Variations from Budget 

 The current forecast suggests that net expenditure for this committee will decrease from 
the approved budget by a total of £43,090 after transfers from reserves and revenue 
contributions to capital, as detailed in Appendix 1.  This represents a variation of 0.47% 



from the revised budget.  This includes supplementary budgets of £116,500 which have 
already been approved by Council.   

 
8.2 The significant variations by management are: 

 

MU 
Code 

Management Unit Over / 
(Underspend) 

Detail 

81A4 Public Safety (£53,130) 

 Contribution from the Housing Revenue 
Account towards the cost of continuing the 
Home Call Alarm service to residents in the 
Council’s older persons accommodation 

 Expenditure on overtime and other pay 
budgets is expected to be less than the annual 
budget. 

81PRAC 
Public Realm Assets 
- Community 

(£68,880) 

 Utilities budget expected to overspend. 

 Cemeteries maintenance budgets anticipated 
to underspend. 

 Underspend anticipated on Asset 
Improvement and Maintenance budget. 

81C2 Advisory Services (£60,470) 

 Savings on pay budgets due to vacancies 

 Payments to temporary accommodation 
providers lower than budgeted 

 Corresponding reduction in income due to 
reduced usage of temporary accommodation 

81C4 
Private Sector 
Housing 

£47,530 

 Lower than budgeted level of licence fee 
income in respect of the new Houses of 
Multiple Occupation licensing scheme, despite 
door to door visits, advertising and targeted 
mail drops to encourage owners to apply.   

81D2 
Domestic Refuse 
Collection 

£100,000 

 Agency costs are expected to exceed the 
estimates mainly as a result of significantly 
higher levels of absences (sickness, 
suspension and phased return) than assumed 
when calculating the budget. 

 A target saving of £33,000 cannot be achieved 

 Fleet repair costs are expected to exceed the 
budget 

 Income from fees for domestic bins is 
expected to exceed the budget, and this, 
together with reduced costs of purchasing 
domestic bins, will partially offset the 
additional costs noted above 

81D4 Street Cleaning (£29,710) 
 Underspend on budget for purchase of bins 

 Fleet costs anticipated to be less than budget. 



MU 
Code 

Management Unit Over / 
(Underspend) 

Detail 

81D6 
Cleansing 
Chargeable Services 

£90,000 

 Income from Trade Refuse expected to be 
less than the estimates, offset by reduced 
waste disposal costs. 

 The contractor dealing with the processing of 
garden waste has gone into liquidation.  While 
an alternative contractor has been engaged, 
the price has significantly increased  

 Income from Trade Recycling expected to be 
less than estimated partially offset by some 
small cost savings. 

 Additional fleet costs have been incurred in 
the Trade Recycling service 

81D7 
Exton Road 
Overheads and Fleet 
Management 

(£37,000) 
 There will be savings on National Non 

Domestic Rates (NNDR), protective clothing 
and fleet costs  

81D8 Recycling £50,000 
 Prices achieved for reclaimed materials are 

below those estimated, partially offset by 
savings on haulage costs 

81E1 
General Fund 
Housing - Property 

(£7,220) 

 Additional costs have been incurred in respect 
of reinstating Shauls Court prior to handing 
back the property in December 2015, in 
accordance with the terms of the lease.  
However, they have been more than offset by 
savings in the cost of repairs to Private Sector 
Leased properties, as a result of an action 
plan to address this area of budgetary 
pressure. 

  
 

9. Capital Budget Monitoring to 31 December 2015 
To report the current position in respect of the Community Capital Programme and to update 
Members with any anticipated cost variances, acceleration of projects or slippage of 
schemes into future years. 

 
9.1    Revisions to the Community Capital Programme 

The 2015/16 Capital Programme, including commitments brought forward from 2014/15 is 
£2,064,350 and was last reported to Scrutiny Committee – Community on 10 November 
2015.  Since that meeting the following changes have been made to the programme: 

 

Description £ Approval/Funding  

Capital Programme,  
as reported to Scrutiny 
Committee – Community, 
10 November 2015 

2,064,350  

Overspends/(Underspends) 
reported at Quarter 2 

3,350 
Approved by Council on 15 
December 2015 

Childrens Play Areas 38,390 
S106 funding for Salmon Pool Play 
Area 



Grant towards the 
redevelopment of Wat Tyler 
House into a Health & Well 
Being Hub 

30,000 
Approved by delegated powers (19 
November 2015).  Funded from the 22 
St David’s Hill Capital receipt. 

Revised Capital Programme  2,136,090  

 

9.2 Performance 
The current Community Capital Programme is detailed in Appendix 2.  The appendix shows 
a total forecast spend of £1,589,642 in 2015/16. 

 

9.3 Capital Variances from Budget 
The main variances and issues concerning expenditure that have arisen since 30 September 
are: 

 

Scheme 

Estimated 
Overspend / 

(Underspend) 
£ 

Reason 

Vehicle 
Replacement 
Programme 

(34,350) 
The actual cost of vehicles purchased has 
been less than the budgeted cost. 

 

9.4 Capital Budgets Deferred to 2016/17 
Schemes which have been identified since 30 September as being wholly or partly deferred 
to 2016/17 and beyond are: 

 

Scheme 

Revised 
15/16 

Budget 
£ 

Budget to 
be 

Deferred 
£ 

Reason 

Vehicle 
Replacement 
Programme 

630,000 50,000 

The 2015/16 budget included sums 
for vehicles that have not yet been 
purchased, these plans will be 
reviewed in 2016/17. 

Warm Up Exeter 163,650 163,650 

This budget is to support energy 
efficiency initiatives such as the 
recently launched central heating 
fund.  The latest Government funded 
scheme launched in January, 
therefore it is unlikely that any spend 
will occur until 2016/17. 

Temporary 
Accommodation 
Purchase 

300,000 300,000 

Work is being undertaken to identify 
the likely need and type of 
requirement for temporary 
accommodation. 

 
 
10. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 

Community Service budgets contribute to 3 key purposes, as set out in the Corporate 
Plan; keep me/my environment safe and healthy, keep place looking good, help me find 
somewhere to live. 

 



11. What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 
Areas of budgetary risk are highlighted in this report.  The key areas of budgetary risks 
within Community Services are attached as Appendix 3, for reference. 

 

12. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and wellbeing; 
safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, community safety and 
the environment? 
No impact. 

 

13. Are there any other options? 
No 

 
DAVE HODGSON 
Assistant Director Finance 
 
Author: FINANCIAL SERVICES TEAM 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 
Background papers used in compiling this report: 
None 
 
 
Contact for enquiries: 
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 2.3 
(01392) 265275 





APPENDIX 1

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

188,370 150,772 (37,598) 81A1 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 389,110 368,020 (21,090) 0 0 

51,234 35,656 (15,578) 81A3 LICENCING,FOOD,HEALTH & SAFETY 358,430 360,130 1,700 (19,170) (12,500)

360,479 257,663 (102,816) 81A4 PUBLIC SAFETY 609,570 556,440 (53,130) (60,920) (51,000)

914,487 791,478 (123,009) 81A6 PARKS & OPEN SPACES 1,013,780 1,025,490 11,710 58,910 18,740 

(95,434) (99,452) (4,018) 81B&C BUSINESS & COMMERICAL OPS (7,880) 19,980 27,860 (5,240) 0 

449,374 259,317 (190,057) 81PRAC PUBLIC REALM ASSETS - COMMUNITY 1,350,830 1,281,950 (68,880) (21,670) 0 

182,765 193,882 11,117 81B2 BEREAVEMENT SERVICES 265,440 281,390 15,950 20,770 0 

657,967 546,222 (111,745) 81C2 ADVISORY SERVICES 1,197,340 1,136,870 (60,470) (60,980) (25,800)

154,733 167,838 13,105 81C3 AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 155,660 155,660 0 0 0 

23,354 36,092 12,738 81C4 PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING 103,770 151,300 47,530 45,200 12,500 

85,210 85,210 0 81C5 SUNDRY LANDS MAINTENANCE 85,210 85,210 0 0 0 

135,616 136,718 1,102 81C9 ASSISTANT DIRECTORS 0 0 0 0 0 

1,145,632 1,201,166 55,534 81D2 DOMESTIC REFUSE COLLECTION 1,802,420 1,902,420 100,000 86,000 86,000 

1,102,797 1,028,663 (74,134) 81D4 STREET CLEANING 1,384,280 1,354,570 (29,710) 0 0 

115,912 119,738 3,826 81D5 PUBLIC CONVENIENCES 203,820 198,560 (5,260) 0 0 

(303,314) (249,911) 53,403 81D6 CLEANSING CHARGEABLE SERVICES (345,700) (255,700) 90,000 42,000 42,000 

108,733 49,791 (58,942) 81D7 EXTON ROAD OVERHEADS AND FLEET 287,990 250,990 (37,000) (9,920) (5,000)

(628) 21,647 22,275 81D8 RECYCLING 170,160 220,160 50,000 52,500 52,500 

451,618 411,776 (39,842) 81E1 GF HOUSING - PROPERTY 182,890 175,670 (7,220) (49,750) 0 

5,728,904 5,144,266 (584,638) NET EXPENDITURE 9,207,120 9,269,110 61,990 77,730 117,440 

VARIANCES ON TRANSFERS TO / (FROM) EARMARKED RESERVES

Expenditure funded by Redundancy Reserve (106,590)

81A3 - Balance on Vehicle Licensing 1,510 

OVERALL FORECAST EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR AFTER MOVEMENTS TO/FROM RESERVES 9,164,030 

REVISED BUDGETS 9,207,120 

ADJUSTED OUTTURN VARIANCE (43,090)

YEAR END FORECAST

QTR 2 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - COMMUNITY

BUDGET MONITORING

APRIL 2015 TO DECEMBER 2015

QTR 1 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE

CURRENT 

OUTTURN 

FORECAST

CURRENT 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE

PROFILED 

BUDGET

ACTUAL 

TO DATE

VARIANCE 

TO DATE
APPROVED 

BUDGET

CODE

ACTUAL TO DATE





APPENDIX 2

2015/16 Capital 

Programme

2015/16 Spend 

to 31 December

2015/16 

Forecast Spend

2015/16 Budget to 

be Carried 

Forward to 

2016/17 and 

Beyond

2015/16 

Programme 

Variances 

(Under)/Over

£ £ £ £ £

COMMUNITY

KEEP PLACE LOOKING GOOD

Play Area Refurbishments 105,380 105,380

Flowerpot Skate Park Lighting 26,500 28,052 28,052 1,552

Refurbishment and Upgrade of Paddling Pools 750 754 750

Parks Improvements 9,430 2,754 9,430

Neighbourhood Parks & Local Open Spaces 8,020 8,020

Belmont Pleaure Ground - New Path 30,000 1,430 30,000

Rougemont Gardens - Path & Railings 50,000 50,000

KEEP ME/MY ENVIRONMENT SAFE & HEALTHY

Vehicle Replacement Programme 630,000 545,649 545,650 50,000 (34,350)

Exton Road Lighting 31,310 4,658 31,310

Mincinglake Reed Beds and Storage Ponds 28,350 28,350

HELP ME FIND SOMEWHERE TO LIVE

Disabled Facility Grants 380,670 255,812 380,670

Warm Up Exeter/PLEA Scheme 163,650 163,650

Wessex Loan Scheme 140,830 28,453 140,830

WHIL Empty Properties 194,000 194,000

The Haven 7,200 1,860 7,200

Wat Tyler House Grant to CVS 30,000 30,000 30,000

Temporary Accommodation Purchase 300,000 300,000

COMMUNITY TOTAL 2,136,090 899,422 1,589,642 513,650 (32,798)

CAPITAL MONITORING TO 31 DECEMBER 2015





  APPENDIX 3 

 AREAS OF BUDGETARY RISK 
 

The table below identifies areas that have been identified as a budgetary risk within the 
Community Services revenue and capital budgets.   

 

The revenue budget areas of risk are: 
 

 

Budget Title 
Approved 

Budget 
Risk  

Revenue: 
Cemeteries 
 

(£277,730) 

 
The income budgets include various 
sources such as interment fees, 
rights of burial and headstone fees.   
 
As at 31 December income received 
was 18% below profile. The 
percentage below profile as at 30 
September was 22%.  Income levels 
are continually monitored and any 
issues will be flagged to senior 
management if required. 
 

Revenue:  
Cleansing 
Chargeable Services 
 

(£345,700) 
The majority of the income is subject 
to local and national markets with 
many competitors.  

Revenue : Recycling £170,160 

The budgets include estimated net 
income from the sale of reclaimed 
materials amounting to £950k.  This 
income is subject to fluctuations in 
the market, and can be very volatile.   

 





EXETER CITY COUNCIL 
 

Report to:  Scrutiny Committee – Community and Executive 
Date of meeting: 1 March 2016  
Title:    Recycling Action Plan for 2016/17 

 
Is this a Key Decision? 
No 
 
Is this an Executive or Council Function? 
Council 
 
1. What is the report about? 

This report presents the 2016/17 Recycling Plan for support and approval. 
 

2. Recommendations: 
1) That Scrutiny Committee Community supports and Executive and Council 

approves the Recycling Plan for 2016 (Appendix 1) 
 

3. Reasons for the recommendation: 
 The actions described in this report are deemed necessary in order to 

progress towards our recycling targets and meeting the targets for income in 
the 2016/17 budget. 

 
4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources? 
 The 2016/17 Recycling Action Plan is achievable within the proposed budget 

envelope for that year. 
 
5. Section 151 officer comments: 
 There are no additional financial implications contained within this report. 
  
6. What are the legal aspects? 
 Under the EU Waste Framework Directive the UK has a target to recycle 50% 

of household waste by 2020.  The UK government has not set statutory 
targets on local authorities, but has the power to do so. The Household 
Recycling Act 2003 requires the Council to offer a kerbside collection of at 
least two materials. 

 
7. Monitoring officer comments: 

  
This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer. 

 
8. Report details: 
 

8.1 The Recycling Action Plan 206/17 (Appendix 1) provides the detail of the 
delivery programme for the year ahead.  

8.2 An update to the Council’s full Recycling Plan 2011-16 will be presented to 
Scrutiny Committee – Community on 7 June 2016.  This will include a review 
of performance to date including the complete figures from 2015/16. 



 
 
Report of: Assistant Director Environment 
 
Author: Cleansing and Fleet Manager 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 
 
Contact for enquiries: Simon Hill, Cleansing and Fleet Manager 
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 2.3 
(01392) 265275 
 



Appendix 1: Recycling Team Action Plan 2016/17 
 
Introduction 
Exeter’s recycling rate has plateaued at around 34% over recent years, which is well 
below the current UK average of 44%.  The reasons for Exeter’s low recycling rate 
relative to the rest of the UK include: 

 Lack of a separate food waste collection suppresses our recycling rate by 8 
percentage points 

 The nature of Exeter’s urban housing stock means there is less garden waste 
available for separate collection 

 For single-tier district councils such as Exeter, the tonnage of waste managed 
at Civic Amenity Recycling Centres does not count towards the recycling rate.   

 Recycling education and awareness efforts have not increased in recent 
years.  The Council’s recycling team has reduced from six to three FTEs and 
in 2014 and 2015 these resources were partially diverted to the 
reorganisation of waste collection rounds.  This had little impact on recycling 
rates but has ‘future proofed’ the Waste Operations service by enabling us to 
accommodate the projected growth in household numbers for the next three 
years with existing resources 

 
It is encouraging that in 2014/15, Exeter ranked 20th lowest out of 229 English local 
authorities for the total amount of waste produced per head, at 304kg per year 
(former BVPI184a).  This indicates that we have been successful in minimising the 
amount of waste produced in the first place, which ranks above recycling in the waste 
hierarchy (“reduce-reuse-recycle”).  It vindicates policies such as alternate weekly 
recycling /rubbish collections, charging for the collection of garden waste and 
applying a ‘no side waste’ policy alongside provision of appropriately-sized rubbish 
containers. 
 
Measures to taken to implement the waste hierarchy since 2014: 

 Extended fortnightly rubbish collections to 92% of the city.  We have retained 
weekly rubbish collections only where lack of physical space makes this 
essential 

 Extended the ‘no side waste’ policy to include excess waste placed on top of 
rubbish bins 

 Revised the allocation of rubbish bin size so that the majority of Exeter 
residents are now provided with 140 or 180 litres’ capacity instead of 240 

 Exeter’s residual waste is now treated at the Energy from Waste plant in 
Marsh Barton, meaning that none of the city’s waste goes to landfill 

 Established the regular use of web-based communications to promote 
recycling (gov delivery newsletter, Twitter) 

 Installed mini-bottle banks at six new sites in areas of high population density  

 Liaison with  social housing, property managers and the University to improve 
communication, correct provision of accessible containers and recycling yield, 
however there is scope for increased and more targeted work in these areas. 

 
 
Grey Bin Analysis 2013 
 
The 2012 bin audit conducted by Jacobs on behalf of Devon County Council 
examined the contents of the average Exeter grey bin and found that over a quarter 
of this material could have been recycled using existing schemes, and a further 35% 
is food waste.  
 



 
The report showed that on average 35% of the weight of rubbish bins comprises 
kitchen organics. It is not currently financially viable to introduce a food waste 
collection service, but even where there is one, it does not always result in high 
householder engagement and can increase waste arisings rather than focusing on 
the individual, regional and global benefits of food waste reduction. ECC promotes 
food waste reduction by endorsing WRAP’s Love Food Hate Waste campaign and 
Exeter Food Hub; and by selling reduced price composters for uncooked kitchen 
waste. The methods for reducing food waste include better storage to make food last 
longer, better menu planning to reduce unused items going to waste and using up 
leftovers. The environmental benefit of food waste reduction is a direct reduction in 
the emissions released by decaying stored or composted food. The financial 
implications are a saving on Devon County Council’s disposal costs, which can 
benefit other services in Devon – and there can also be financial benefits to the 
individual householder in terms shopping and using food more efficiently. A decrease 
in food put in the rubbish bin should also increase the recycling rate for Exeter.  
 
Exeter is among the few Waste Collection Authorities to collect all household plastics 
– including pots, tubs, trays and film, and items labelled “cannot be recycled”. In spite 
of this, the bin analysis showed an average of 11% of the rubbish weight being 
plastic. The results on the percentage of different types of plastics in both the rubbish 
and recycling bins showed that of all the plastic thrown away we captured 68% 
HDPE bottles and 73% other plastic bottles for recycling, but only 13% film and 38% 
non-bottle plastic packaging. This would suggest that people are recycling plastic 
bottles but disposing of other plastics. This is also reflected in anecdotal evidence 
from people we spoke to at community events and student door knocking during 
Fresher’s Week. Even the more environmentally aware residents seem to be missing 
the “all plastics” message. A series of campaigns to raise awareness, particularly in 
low performance areas, should help to resolve this and have a positive effect on the 
recycling rate. We have already set up a display at the Customer Services centre of 
the Civic Centre, attached to a GovDelivery promotional hessian bags giveaway for 
the introduction of the bag tax. 
 
One of the more confusing outcomes from the analysis was the low capture rate for 
steel (46%) and aluminium (30%) cans. Aluminium is one of the highest priced 
commodities that Exeter extracts and sells at the Material Reclamation Facility. In 
spite of cans and tins being traditionally recyclable, compared to the relatively recent 
plastics market, 70% of the aluminium cans thrown away by Exeter residents end up 
being sent to the Energy Recovery Facility for incineration. Given the high capture 
rates for pulpables and plastic bottles, this seems illogical. One reason is that cans 
are more likely to be disposed of “on the go” and so end up as litter or in street bins, 
which are weak areas in terms of extracting recyclables in Exeter. Attempts to 
introduce on-street recycling have not proved successful in the past, but the recycling 
bins put in place were not particularly easy to identify. Most major cities and tourist 
towns have on-street recycling. 
 
The capture rate for pulpables is above the UK average at 86% for paper and 80% 
for card, and constituting only 9% of the rubbish bin contents. This demonstrates 
good recycling behaviour, thus successful communications of the pulpables 
message. Exeter has a reputation for delivering high grade paper for reprocessing. 
The exception is around Christmas when there is a high volume of metallic and 
glittery paper. This should be considered with Christmas specific communications.  
 
Another indicator for good recycling behaviour is that only 4% of the rubbish weight is 
glass. This indicated that, even though we do not provide a kerbside collection 



service for glass, Exeter citizens are using the glass banks well. This is particularly 
important given the current crash in the market value for glass. Most other authorities 
who outsource the management of their recycling collections are now paying to send 
their mixed glass for reprocessing; because we are able to colour-separate using the 
bring banks, we can still generate revenue from selling some of the glass. As 
Exeter’s population is growing we are looking into providing new glass recycling 
sites. We have already secured a site on Prince of Wales Road to target students. 
Placing new sites is a slow process as there are several sources of permission that 
need to be agreed. 
 
Kerbside Recycling Analysis 
 
Earlier in the year the Senior Recycling Officer analysed typical weight comparisons 
of refuse and recycling collected by crews. We also looked at areas with low 
presentation of recycling bins and high presentation of contaminated recycling. This 
information gives us an idea of the Low Performing Areas (LPAs) for recycling in the 
city. It also gives us some idea about what are the behaviours in each area that lead 
to not capturing recycling. All this information can help to inform our targeted 
campaigns to increase recycling. 
 
 
The following chart summarises the findings: 
 

Ward Problems Identified Strategic Focus 

St Loyes 
 
Pinhoe 

Low recycling 
 
Low-medium recycling, low 
presentation, high contamination 

Highest priorities 
 
Awareness roadshows, 
community news letters 
 
Detail process and 
consequences of recycling 

Alphington 
St James 
Pennsylvania 
 
Newton 
Heavitree 

Low-medium recycling, low 
presentation 
 
 
 
Low-medium recycling, high 
contamination 

Second priority areas 
 
Awareness roadshows, 
community news letters 
 
Detail process and 
consequences of recycling 

Exwick 
St Thomas 
St Davids 

Low-medium recycling 
 
 

Medium term 

Mincinglake 
Cowick 

Low presentation of recycling 
bins 

Medium term 

Duryard 
Polsloe 
Whipton Barton 
St Leonards 
Priory 
Topsham 

No extremes in any of the 
criteria although still below 
national average for recycling 

Long term 

We have a high number of shared bin stores in Exeter. These are statistically difficult 
to manage in terms of ensuring everyone that uses them recycles. We get a high 
number of reports of contamination as it only takes one person in the shared scheme 
to undo the good work of others. Particular thought needs to be given in terms of the 



hows and whys of recycling as well as deterrents or rewards to affect behavioural 
change. 
 
‘Low recycling’ is defined as less than 20%, and ‘Low-medium’ as less than 30%.  
These figures are significantly lower than Exeter’s published recycling rate, which 
also includes material collected on bring bank, garden waste and community group 
schemes. 
 
Barriers to recycling 
 
The Recycling Action Plan 2016/17 aims to address the known barriers to recycling: 

 Infrastucture: having access to a recycling service, and having the correct 
containers 

 Knowledge: being aware of what and how to recycle, so that residents do not 
take the default option of putting waste into the grey bin 

 Household behaviour and organisation issues 

 Attitude and motivation: people are more likely to engage with recycling if 
their efforts are recognised and the benefits of recycling are made clear.  In 
particular, people wish to know what happens to the  material they sent for 
recycling 

 
 
Communication Opportunities 
 
 
GovDelivery 
Recycling has over 1,500 subscribers. We have started sending regular targeted 
messages to reinforce our scheme. Mails to date include: a general introduction, 
plastics recycling promotion, food reduction message and Christmas messages.  
 
Twitter/Facebook 
The recycling department now has an ipad. The intention is to open social media 
accounts and to respond to recycling and waste related messages on the ECC 
accounts. This will also offer an opportunity to initiate targeted messages aimed at 
different target groups, without the restrictions of the ECC sites. We can still send 
messages out from ECC sites via the Communications department. This is pending 
approval of ECC Comms dept. 
 
Livery 
Three RCVs and the bin delivery truck are awaiting livery. The initial idea was to 
target the habit of putting recyclables in the rubbish bins. After some delays in 
producing designs (due to accessing technology and mixed messages in terms of 
feedback for the design), the current concept is very similar to what is already in 
place, with clearer messages. The focus will be on the three target materials plastics, 
metals and food reduction for the RCVs. The bin delivery van accesses more of the 
city so a general “what’s in the green bin” message will go on this.  
 
Community Signage 
Some of the signs at community recycling points have out of date information and 
would benefit from matching the concepts developed in the livery messages. There is 
also a banner at the Pinhoe Sainsbury’s site that is available for us to use. These will 
be reaching people visiting the bring banks and thus people who are already pro-
recycling. A more detailed message about the stats, process and consequences of 



recycling will be designed for these, including the environmental and economic 
aspects. 
 
Calendars, Leaflets and Recycling Guide 
These need to portray clear, simple and targeted messages about waste policies, 
services and what can be recycled in Exeter. 
 
Exeter Citizen  
A double-page spread has been reserved for the next four issues of the Citizen.  The 
Spring 2016 edition will focus on clearing up the common misunderstandings about 
what can and cannot go in the green bin, addressing the knowledge barriers that 
many residents face. 
 
Insight magazine, Landlord Forum and local ward-based newsletter 
These can be used to target local issues or promotions as well as city wide 
messages. 
 
Civic Centre 
We have created a general priorities comms display which is stored at the Civic 
Centre reception to present when no other campaigns are occupying the space they 
have there.  
 
Schools 
Promote a ‘Three Rs Communications Campaign’ competition for schools. A 
community outreach excercise, judged by the Council, with prizes for the winning 
school funded by the remaining funds from the Green Team programme 2015. 



Summary of action plan 
 

(i) Material-specific actions 
 

Target 
Area 

Outcome Responsible 

parties and 
key partners 

Progress Deadline Comments 

Plastic Increase capture of plastic: raise 
awareness through comms, 
roadshows in LPAs, targeted litter 
picks and frontline staff training that 
Exeter recycles all household 
plastics,  

Recycling 
Department, 
Collection 
Crews, Street 
Scene 

City councillor MRF tour 
and talks given to five 
councillors 
 
Training being developed 
for frontline staff 
 
Details of communication 
exercises need to be 
discussed further 

Training and 
comms to be 
underway 
before June 
2016 

Roadshows in LPAs could 
help to identify “Recycling 
Champions” to continue 
longer-term community pride 
ventures 

Aluminium 
cans 

Increase the capture rate of this high 
value commodity 

Recycling 
Department, 
Street Scene 

 Action plan to 
be devised 
before June 
2016 

Ideas include two stream 
litter picks, increase on-street 
recycling availability, and 
‘household metals’ message 
in comms 

Glass and 
textiles 

Increase glass & textile recycling 
and ensure compliance with Waste 
Regulations 2011 (aka TEEP) by 
increasing range of bring sites 

Recycling 
dept, planning 

On site confirmed to serve 
students on Prince of 
Wales Road.  
 
Other sites identified 
subject to various 
permissions 

Ongoing Increase in number of textile 
banks is pending 
appointment of new 
contractor. 

 



 
 

(ii) Community-specific actions 

Target 
Area 

Outcome Responsible 
Parties and 
key partners 

Progress Deadline Comments 

Identific-
ation of 
Low 
Performan
ce Areas 
(LPAs) 

Target LPAs with comms package 
designed to connect with different 
target groups messages 

Recycling 
Department 

Kerbside analysis and bin 
audit has highlighted some 
LPA and target message 
focus areas 
 
Analysis needs to be done 
of recycling bins not being 
presented needs, then 
details of comms 
packages in target areas 
can begin 

“Not out” 
analysis 
completed  
 
Comms delivery 
to be underway 
before 
June2016 

Roadshows in LPAs could 
help to identify “Recycling 
Champions” to continue 
longer term community pride 
ventures 
 
 

LPA 1: 
University 
students 
in rented 
accommo
dation 

Clarifying the recycling message to 
those moving in from other regions. 
 
Motivating people who are not 
permanent Exeter residents and 
those who have limited life skill 
experience. 

Recycling 
dept, Student 
Guild, Student 
Wardens, Rory 
Cunningham, 
University 
Sustainability 
Team. 

Meetings with student 
wardens and Rory.  
 
Students on the Move. 
 
Freshers door knocking. 
 
Roadshows/ Warden 
stalls. 
 
Partnership with Exeter 
University, student guild, 
Devon County Council 

Students on the 
Move 
commencing 
May 2016; 
communications 
to be delivered 
at start of 
2016/17 
academic year 

 

LPA 2: 
HMOs 
using bin 
stores 

Increased capture of recycling, 
reduction in overfilled grey bins 

Recycling 
dept. 
 
Waste Ops. 
 
Systems 

Identify & meet landlords 
and managing agents to 
discuss solutions; 
 
Implement WRAP-
recommended measures – 
better signage, 

Ongoing  



communication with 
residents, etc 
 
Install glass and clothing 
bring banks  

LPA 3: as 
per areas 
identified 
in 
kerbside 
analysis 

Achieve a measurable improvement 
in recycling in a small area with 
intensive ‘War on Waste’ comms 

Recycling dept Priority areas and 
materials identified for 
targeted comms 
S:\CLEANSING 
SERVICES\Recycling 
Services\Kerbside 
analysis 2014 

Ongoing  

Comm-
unity 
reward 
scheme  

Recognition of residents’ recycling 
efforts & increased engagement with 
recycling leading to improved 
participation 

 Identify collection round(s) 
(about 1,200 properties 
each) and develop options 

for a reward and 

recognition scheme to 
encourage recycling 
participation 
 
Engage with neighbouring 
authorities to share best 
practice and 
communications resources 

Dec 2017 Case studies from other local 
authorities indicate that a 
mixture of community-wide 
and individual incentives can 
lead to increased recycling 
rates.  At the moment there is 
mixed evidence as to 
whether the increased 
income from recycling can 
offset the costs of 
implementing a reward 
scheme. 

Non-
wheeled 
bin 
properties 

Ensure that residents who cannot 
use a wheeled bin or communal bin 
store are using the best alternative 
provision.  Consult/test residents on 
whether clear recycling sacks or 
caddies encourage the best material 
capture rates.  Incorporate best 
practice from other urban authorities. 

Senior 
Recycling 
Officer 

Increased liaison with 
private landlords carried 
out as part of collection 
round reorganisation in 
2015.   

March 2017 Affects 1,500 recycling sack 
and 3,500 recycling box 
customers. 

Schools  Promote a ‘Three Rs 
Communications Campaign’ 
competition for schools. A 
community outreach excercise, 
judged by the Council, with prizes for 

Senior 
Recycling 
Officer 

This complements the 
ongoing schools work 
funded by Devon County 
Council and the Devon 
Authorities Strategic 

March 2017   



the winning school funded by the 
remaining funds from the Green 
Team programme 2015.  
 

Waste Committee 

(iii)Infrastructure actions 
 

Target 
Area 

Outcome Responsible 
parties and 
key partners 

Progress Deadline Comments 

Separate 
Food 
Waste 
Collection 

Investigate costs and collection 
method options 

Cleansing and 
Fleet Manager 

Costs and impact on 
recycling figures have 
been modelled by 
Eunomia.   

Completed Further progress is likely to 
depend on outcome of work 
with DCC on sharing of 
avoided disposal savings 

Recycle 
on the Go 

Prepare a business case for self-
funding  recycling of litter bin waste’  

Senior 
Recycling 
Officer 

In progress Sept 2016 On-street ‘on the go’ 
recycling bins are common in 
other urban retail and tourist 
areas.  Although the tonnage 
captured is small, this is a 
good way to remind people to 
recycle. 

 
(iv) Strategic actions 

Target 
Area 

Outcome Responsible 
Parties 

Progress Deadline Comments 

Devon 
partner-
ship 
working 

Work with DCC to establish a 
workable mechanism for investing in 
higher-performing recycling scheme, 
funded by an equitable share of the 
avoided disposal savings 

Cleansing and 
Fleet Manager; 

Asssitant 

Director 
Environment 

50:50 split of savings 
currently under discussion 
at officer level among 
Devon authorities 

Draft proposal 
issued in Jan 
2016 and 
currently under 
discussion 

 
- 

 

 
 





 
REPORT TO: Scrutiny Community and Executive 
Date of Meeting: 1 March 2016 and 15 March 2016   
Report of: Assistant Director Housing 
Title: Housing Strategy 2016-2020 
 
Is this a Key Decision?   
No 
 
Is this an Executive or Council Function? 
 Council 
 
1. What is the report about? 
The report summarises the contents of the proposed Housing Strategy 2016-2020 and the 
context in which it has been developed. A copy of the full strategy document is appended. 
 
 
2. Recommendations:  
That Scrutiny Committee and Executive note and Council approves the new Housing 
Strategy as summarised in this report.  
 
 
3. Reasons for the recommendation: 
The new Housing Strategy provides a high level overview of the City Council’s key housing 
objectives and will provide a framework and give overall direction to our future work in this 
area.  
 
 
4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources.  
No additional resources will be required to implement the strategy.  
 
 
5. Section 151 Officer comments: 
The report contains no specific financial implications. Any requirement for further resources 
will require an additional report or be presented during the normal budget cycle. 
 
 
6. What are the legal aspects? 
None Identified. 
 
 
7. Monitoring Officer’s comments: 
The Council is no longer statutorily required to have a housing strategy.  However, it seems 
prudent to have a strategy governing the strategic approach to housing. 
 
 
8. Report details: 
Local authorities are no longer required by Government to have a Housing Strategy as such. 
However, production of such a strategy is an objective of the current Corporate Plan and as 
a Council we are expected to show that we have a strategic approach to housing in our local 
area. 
 
 
 



  

In the past ‘strategic direction’ has mainly focused on enabling the delivery of social housing 
but in the current context of increasing demand, inadequate supply, reduced revenue and 
concerns around affordability and vulnerability we need to shape and respond to wider 
issues and trends that impact our city. 
 
We also need to articulate our vision as the largest landlord in Exeter: why we are here; what 
we want to do; and how we intend to do it.  
 
 
 
Background 
There are a number of significant factors that have informed the new Strategy: 

 National Government is promoting owner-occupation as the solution to housing 
problems, arguably at the expense of recognising the importance of other tenures 

 Yet home ownership is in long term decline nationally and the only tenure which is 
growing to any extent (both absolutely and relatively) is the private rented sector 

 Social housing itself is seen as a problem rather than a solution to housing need despite 
its popularity 

 Social landlords are being compelled to cut their rents which, for us, will mean a loss of 
income of some £7.9 million over four years 

 A ‘high value asset levy’ will be imposed on us (the details have yet to be confirmed) 
which will again reduce the resources we have to invest in our stock 

 The ‘Pay to stay’ programme will increase the rents of those affected dramatically 

 Welfare reform continues to affect some tenants incomes 

 Rough sleeping numbers are increasing in the city and homelessness remains a serious 
issue 

 The report we commissioned from the University of Exeter has shown that there are 
significant problems around vulnerability and affordability, particularly in the private 
sector  

 The supply of new housing in the city is limited while demand is rising (numbers 
registered on Devon Home Choice are increasing) 

 At the same time we are losing large numbers of our own housing stock through the 
Right to Buy (a policy that is now being extended to the housing association sector) 
despite our own Council Own Build (COB) programme 

 
As a landlord we have also faced a number of more particular issues over the last few years: 

 We need to better understand the nature of the demands placed on the service and what 
we ought to do (if anything) to meet these demands 

 We need to have better knowledge of both our customers (principally our tenants) and 
our assets (our housing stock) 

 We need to improve our performance in some key areas (for example void times and 
tacking anti-social behaviour) 

 We need to control our costs 

 We need to fully implement our Tenancy Strategy (which initiated Flexible Tenancies and 
which implies a much closer working relationship between us as landlord and our 
tenants) 

 
Many of these issues have already been addressed (and will continue to be addressed) 
through the change of emphasis in the Housing Service over the past two years or so and a 
different, more pro-active way of working.  
 
 



  

Our new Strategy articulates what we have done and what we intend to do (working within 
the constraints of the national policy framework and our own powers and resources) to 
respond to the realities of Exeter’s housing needs and housing market over the next four 
years. 
 
 
What the new Strategy says 
The Strategy has three priorities: 
1. Address housing need and vulnerability - by providing housing options, advice and 

support to all residents 
2. Provide more housing - in particular by exploring ways of delivering new affordable 

housing across a range of tenures 
3. Be a good landlord - by raising the standards of our own stock and landlord services, 

and by influencing the improvement of  standards in the private rented sector 
 
 
1. Address housing need by providing housing advice and support to all residents 
We have a separate Homelessness Strategy (written with Teignbridge District Council). This 
gives more detail on our approach to addressing homelessness and housing need in both 
districts. 
 
Key action points 

 Take a strategic leadership role in our relationship with housing associations and private 
landlords in Exeter 

 Provide quality housing and financial advice to all who require it 

 Provide a holistic approach to personal debt management through the Council’s 
Payments and Collection Team 

 Work with the Integrated Care Exeter (ICE) Project to address health needs in people’s 
own homes 

 Streamline our Allocations Policy to simplify the system and to encourage the 
engagement of those registered on it 

 Introduce a Tenant Finder Scheme managed by Plymouth Access to Housing (PATH) 

 Continue to provide suitable disabled adaptations to enable households to live 
independently 

 
 
2. Explore ways of delivering new affordable housing across all tenures 
We aim to accelerate the delivery of new housing of whatever tenure. 
 
Key action points 

 Continue to negotiate with developers, and work closely with neighbouring authorities 
and other agencies to increase the supply of affordable housing both to buy and to rent 
across the city 

 Explore the viability of setting up a Council-owned Housing Company which would aim to 
develop and finance a house building programme outside the Housing Revenue Account 

 Build a 53 unit Extra Care home at St Loyes as part of the Millbrook Care Village 
development 

 Continue to bring empty homes back into use 

 Acquire properties on the open market 
 
 
 
 



  

3. Be a good landlord  
We want people to live in decent and secure housing. We are the largest landlord in Exeter 
and have an important role to play both in being a good landlord to our tenants and in being 
an example to other landlords in the city. 
 
Key action points: 

 Continue to actively visit all our properties on a regular basis 

 Improve the effectiveness of our asset management service 

 Carry on with the review of services and housing-related support for older tenants 

 Maintain improvements in service delivery (we aim to be a top quartile performer in key 
service areas, including void times, rent arrears and anti-social behaviour)  

 Review our anti-social behavior policy and procedures 

 Continue to support the Performance Scrutiny Partnership (PSP) 

 Review our Resident Involvement Strategy 

 Benefit from the work of the new Housing Community Partnerships Officer to lead on 
community development initiatives for the Service 

 Continue to support private landlords in tackling poor housing in the private rented sector 
and to improve energy efficiency 

 
Consultation 
At the very earliest stages of planning the new strategy some time ago, extensive 
consultation took place. This included: 

 Royal Albert Memorial Museum (RAMM) event 

 Documentary screening at The Phoenix 

 Public consultation at St Stephen’s Church 

 Belmont Chapel council tenant and leaseholder event 

 An online and paper survey of Exeter citizens 

 Discussions with Members 
 

Most of the points that came out of these events are still very relevant, and so it is not felt 
necessary to undertake further consultation. However, further discussions have been held 
with the relevant Portfolio Holders to ‘refresh’ the key themes in the strategy. 
 
 
9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 
The Strategy contributes to the Corporate Plan in the following areas: 
 

 Provide services to meet customers’ needs – the Strategy aims to help meet the 
citizens of Exeter’s housing needs by providing a range of opportunities and services 

 Reduce operating costs – our new way of working in housing (concentrating on 
meeting real demand within restricted or declining resources) will help drive costs out of 
the system 

 Invest in the city – we intend to build and facilitate the construction of as many 
affordable homes as possible in the city 

 Grow the economy – new businesses arriving in the city will require staff to work in 
them who will need somewhere to live. A successful housing economy supports the 
Council to deliver its growth agenda 

 Support Exeter’s communities – this is at the heart of the new Housing Strategy. 
Being a better landlord will involve playing a greater role as a community developer and 
instigator of local health and well-being initiatives 

 
 
 



  

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 
The risks are in not having a clear strategy for the future development of housing and 
housing-related interventions in the city. We need to address housing need and demand; we 
need to build and acquire as much new affordable housing as possible; and we need to 
improve our performance as a landlord in providing services. All of these the new strategy is 
designed to deliver. 
 
 
 
11. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 

wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment? 

Decent, safe, affordable & well maintained housing is essential to meeting the Council’s 
responsibilities & objectives in relation to all of the above.. 
 
 
12. Are there any other options? 
We do not need to have a Housing Strategy but are recommending one to Members for the 
reasons detailed elsewhere in this report.  
 
  
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director Housing 
 
 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 
Background papers used in compiling this report:- 
None 
 
 
 
Contact for enquires:  
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 2.3 
01392 265275 
 
 
 
 
 





   

 

Exeter City Council  

Housing Strategy  

2016-2020 

 



 2 

 

Contents 

 

Foreword 3 

Executive Summary 4-5 

Introduction 6 

Objectives 7 

The National Context 8 

1. Address housing need and vulnerability 9-11 

2. Provide more housing 12-16 

3. Be a good landlord 17-24 

Conclusion 25 

 



 3 

 

Foreword 
Exeter City Council is launching its new housing 

strategy in the midst of a wave of new policy and 

legislation from Central Government that is 

seeking to fundamentally change the housing 

landscape. While new opportunities may present 

themselves as a consequence, and we stand 

ready to take advantage of those, there is no 

doubt that many government policy initiatives will 

present real problems for councils, like Exeter, 

that retain their own housing stock and see a 

continuing key role for social housing. The 

imposed cut in social rents and the so-called 

‘high value assets levy’ will significantly damage 

local authorities’ ability to invest in their existing 

stock and finance new-build programmes from 

the Housing Revenue Account, so ways will need 

to be found to free up resources to improve our 

stock (by reducing our operating costs for 

example) and identifying new mechanisms for 

increasing housing supply. 

Like most places, and especially those cities that 

are growing and achieving economic success, 

Exeter has a range of housing ‘needs’ that go 

well beyond the aspiration for owner occupation 

that lies at the heart of current government policy. 

Issues of housing vulnerability and insecurity, the 

challenges faced by low-income households, a 

significant dependence on private and social 

rented accommodation, the shortage of 

affordable housing, are all facts of life and are all 

things that a housing strategy needs to speak to. 

 

The purpose of this strategy therefore is to set 

out the challenges we face, the context in which 

we work, the opportunities that exist, the 

objectives we have, and how we intend to 

pursue those objectives within the financial and 

policy constraints we face over the next four 

years.  

I hope you find it interesting reading. 

 

Cllr Rob Hannaford 

Portfolio Holder for Housing Revenue Account 



 4 

 

Executive summary 

 

The City Council’s  

new Housing Strategy  

is shaped by two key factors.  

The first of these is the national policy 

context. Insufficient housing is being built. 

Indeed, there has been a failure by successive 

governments over a long period to deliver 

enough housing. This has led to a crisis on the 

supply side in many areas (typically those such 

as Exeter with strong and growing economies) 

which, coupled with increasing demand, has led 

to significant problems of affordability across all 

tenures.  

At the same time the stock of local authority 

social housing has been seriously depleted as a 

consequence of the Right to Buy, a policy that is 

now being extended to the Housing Association 

sector (who are to be compensated for their 

losses by charges being levied on councils in 

respect of their high value assets).  

 

The challenges facing social housing providers 

are compounded by recent Government initiatives 

such as the 1% rent reduction for four years 

(which will cost Exeter City Council’s Housing 

Revenue Account almost £8 million in that period); 

the ‘pay to stay’ policy; the imposition of ‘flexible’ 

tenancies; and further restrictions on welfare 

benefits.  

Present government policy seems to be focused 

exclusively on the promotion of, and support for, 

owner-occupation to the exclusion of social 

housing and the private rented sector. This is 

despite the crucial and growing role of the rented 

sectors in meeting housing need and delivering 

homes for all. 

 

 



 5 

 

Executive summary  

The second key factor shaping the 

Strategy is the realisation that a “one size fits all” 

view of housing cannot solve the underlying 

problem. People have very different housing 

‘needs’, ‘demands’ and ‘aspirations’ and require 

different solutions to meet these.  ‘Housing need’ 

is, in reality, an elusive concept and can be very 

subjective (although we try to objectify it through 

our Devon Home Choice assessment procedure) 

covering everything from finding a safe and 

warm place to sleep at night to wanting to own 

your own house.  

Contrary to the impression given by Government 

policy we do not believe that increased levels of 

owner-occupation are a sufficient solution to our 

housing problems. While owning your own home 

is an entirely legitimate aspiration, the fact is that 

it is a declining tenure and has little relevance for 

increasing numbers of people for whom it is an 

impossible dream on account of its 

unaffordability. For these people, and particularly 

those vulnerable people identified in the 

University of Exeter research study which the 

Council commissioned in 2014, rented 

accommodation is the only realistic option, and 

our interventions must be calibrated to increase 

the availability, security and affordability of all 

forms of rented housing.  

Our Housing Strategy aims to respond to some of 
the complexities and realities of the ‘housing 
crisis’ by: 

1. Addressing housing need and vulnerability 

2. Provide more housing 

3. Being a good landlord 



 6 

 

Introduction 

 

While Local Authorities are not required by 

Government to have a formal housing strategy, 

they are expected to have a strategic approach 

to housing in their local areas: to show 

leadership, guidance and direction to other 

stakeholders; and to facilitate a thriving housing 

market. 

Our strategic approach is expressed through 

this Housing Strategy, which is a high level, 

over-arching document concerned with 

promoting a thriving local housing economy in 

Exeter whatever the tenure. The Strategy is 

designed to help us clarify and communicate 

our objectives. It is a four year plan that sets 

out how we will tackle identified housing issues 

using the resources we have available.  

The Housing Strategy is the principal strategy 

for the Housing Service. As a high level 

strategy it has a number of other strategies 

linked to it (such as the Homelessness Strategy 

and the Tenancy Strategy) which contain more 

detail on how we intend to meet our goals.  

The Strategy also reflects and supports the 

Council’s wider objectives as listed in the 

Corporate Plan. The Corporate Plan has five 

strands which are: 

1. Provide services to meet customers’ 

needs 

2. Reduce operating costs 

3. Invest in the city 

4. Grow the economy 

5. Support Exeter’s communities 

An important piece of research that also informs 

this Strategy was commissioned by the Housing 

Service and carried out by the University of Exeter 

in 2014. This research was designed to 

qualitatively evaluate the housing needs and 

experiences of Exeter residents. It found that 

significant vulnerability existed across the city and 

across tenures. 



 7 

 

Objectives 

A) Context and challenges 

This will set out the facts, figures and reasons why 

this has been identified as a primary objective. It 

will list the challenges we face and the constraints 

and limitations under which we operate . 

B) What we are doing and what we will do 

This will list the key actions that we intend to carry 

out in order to meet our objectives and give some 

examples of what we are already doing. 

Each of these objectives will have a chapter to itself 

which will follow the same format. Each chapter will 

be divided into two sections:  

 

For the sake of clarity and simplicity, this Strategy 

will focus on delivering three key objectives: 

 

1. Address housing need and 

vulnerability - by providing housing 

options, advice and support to all 

residents 

2. Provide more housing - in particular 

by exploring ways of delivering new 

affordable housing across a range of 

tenures 

3. Be a good landlord - by raising the 

standards of our own stock and 

landlord services, and by 

influencing the improvement of  

standards in the private rented 

sector 

Underpinning all of the actions we have 

identified, are the following core          

principles: 

 

 Being committed to equality of    

opportunity and fair access to    

services 

 Offering high levels of customer 

service 

 Being committed to performance 

management and improving        

services 

 Delivering value for money 

 



 8 

 

Housing and Planning Bill 2015 

 

Measures set out in this Bill (which has yet to 

receive Royal Assent) include: 

 A focus on home ownership, with 

measures to facilitate the building of self/

custom build housing  

 New affordable Starter Homes: councils 

will have a duty to guarantee the provision 
of 200,000 Starter Homes to be offered to 
first-time buyers at a 20% discount on 

market prices 

 Councils will gain the ability to apply for 

banning orders against private landlords. 
A database of rogue landlords and agents 
will be set up. Landlords will have a clear 
process to secure repossession of 

properties abandoned by tenants 

 The Right to Buy for housing association 

tenants has been introduced as a 
voluntary arrangement with the National 
Housing Federation. Compensation to 
housing associations will be funded by the 
sale of high value council homes (through 
a charge levied on councils by the 

Secretary of State) 

 Pay to Stay: social housing tenants on 

higher incomes (which for Exeter are 
expected to be those with a household 
income in excess of £30,000) will be 

required to pay up to a market rent 

 ‘Lifetime’ tenancies for social housing 

tenants will end and be replaced by 

‘Flexible’ or time-limited tenancies  

The National Context 
Current Government housing policy concentrates on increasing housing supply and, in particular, supporting 

and encouraging owner-occupation. Two main features of the present political landscape are the Housing and 

Planning Bill and welfare reform. 

 

 

Exeter City Council will continue to work within 

these new and evolving parameters, to deliver and 

maintain our housing services to the best of our 

capacity.  

Welfare Reform 

 

Following the reforms in 2012,  

further welfare reforms were announced in 2015.  

These included: 

 Restricting benefit access to 18-21 year olds 

 Reducing Employment and Support 

Allowance claims to align with the Job 

Seekers’ Allowance rate 

 Continuing the freeze on working age 

benefits 

 Reducing social housing rents by 1% a year 

for the next 4 years 

 Restricting the income threshold for tax 

credits, and access to these, and limiting 

Universal Credit to two children 

 Increasing free childcare for working parents  

 



 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Homelessness and unmet housing need are significant problems for Exeter even though the city is doing well economically. Numbers 

of rough sleepers have increased significantly and competition for social housing remains high.  

 

 Population of Exeter predicted to increase to 132,087 by 2023 

 Households predicted to increase by 8,800 to 58,000 by 2023 

 2,492 households registered on Devon Home Choice with medium or high housing need 

 589 dwellings per year needed on average until 2033 

 325 affordable dwellings required on average per year until 2033 

 Average sold house price in Exeter in 2015 £255,100 (Zoopla, 2015) This is 9.5 times the median full time salary of £26,624 

(ASHE, 2014) 

 Owner occupation in Exeter is 61%, but is decreasing. Nationally, ownership peaked at 69% in 2001; it fell to 64% in 2011 

 22% privately rent in Exeter, a figure that  is above national average, and is increasing  

 10% of households in Exeter rent from a local authority  

 7% of households in Exeter rent from a housing association 

 192 cases of homelessness were prevented in 2014/15 through providing the support to stay in an existing home, or by 

assistance to secure alternative accommodation 

 27 rough sleepers were identified in the city in 2015 

1. Address housing need and vulnerability 

by providing housing options, advice and 

support to all residents 

A. Context and challenges 

K
e

y
 i

s
s

u
e

s
  High and increasing demand for housing in Exeter 

 Widespread housing vulnerability and homelessness across the city 

 Financial pressures on residents 



 10 

 

 1. Address housing need and vulnerability 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

1 
Hidden homelessness includes sofa surfing, temporarily staying with friends or family, living in entirely inadequate accommodation i.e. due 

to overcrowding, quality, or in inappropriate temporary accommodation.  

i. Tackle homelessness 

Exeter has had relatively high rough sleeping numbers over the last few years. The 2015 figure of 27 rough sleepers acts only as an 

indication of the numbers on a specific night, meaning that the rough sleeping population is likely to be greater. 

Furthermore, there is a high degree of hidden homelessness1 in the city. The Council is working closely with other organisations to 

take a preventative approach aiming to resolve root causes, alongside providing crisis management, in responding to these issues. 

Exeter City Council has produced a combined Homelessness Strategy with Teignbridge District Council. This partnership, created 

through the development of the Homelessness Strategy, has cemented a commitment to working more closely to overcome and 

prevent homelessness.  

 

The Homelessness Strategy, which complements this Strategy, has four key themes, each having its own priorities: 

1. A place to live 

 Increase access to good, safe and affordable accommodation 

 Help people stay at home 

 Improve access to the private rented sector 

 End the use of bed and breakfast accommodation for families and young people 

 Bring rough sleeping to an end 

2. Access to services 

 Maintain and improve the customer experience 

 Offer services at times and places to suit customers 

 Make sure help is accessible to everyone 

 Improve accessibility of services 

3. Health and protection 

 Improve the health and well-being of homeless people 

 Help protect the vulnerable from violence and abuse 

 Support people released from prison, hospital and leaving the armed forces 

4. Money matters 

 Help people manage their finances when faced with homelessness 

 Target investment on reducing homelessness 

 Maximise opportunities with partners and provide better value for money  

 



 11 

 

 1. Address housing need and vulnerability 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

 

Integrated Care Exeter (ICE) 

The Integrated Care Exeter (ICE) project consists of an integrated Health and Well-being Team for homeless people, and enables 

access to healthcare for Exeter’s highly vulnerable and homeless residents. The team comprises professionals from across the 

Assertive Homeless Outreach Team, Drug and Alcohol Services, Mental Health Services, Adult Social Care, Onward Care Services, 

and the Police. This partnership is working together to prevent long term entrenched health problems, through timely support and 

intervention, crisis support, and post crisis aftercare. 

Health and Well-being Hub at Wat Tyler House 

Exeter Council for Voluntary Service (Exeter CVS) has created a multi-agency health and well-being hub at Wat Tyler House in King 

William Street. A grant of £440,000 from Public Health England is being used to offer a GP surgery, probation service, substance 

misuse support, mental health outreach and complex needs housing advice. The Hub will enable each individual to assess and 

address their needs through having wellbeing, health, accommodation, training and skills advice all in one place’ It will provide a 

package of support mechanisms to help people live independently.  

 

ii. Provide financial assistance 

Over 50% of Exeter City Council’s tenants rely on housing benefit, at least in part, and Council tenant rent arrears, as a percentage of 

debt, have been increasing year on year since 2012. We are working hard to be proactive and prepared for future changes to 

residents’ financial needs, and have a wide range of solutions to respond to residents facing financial difficulties. We offer appropriate 

financial advice alongside housing options, and where the Council is unable to offer advice, we signpost customers to the most 

appropriate organisation.  

 

Payments and Collections Team at Exeter City Council and Exeter Money Advice Partnership (EMAP)  

Our ‘One View of Debt’ approach takes a holistic view of debt owed to Exeter City Council.  We consider rent arrears, Council Tax 

arrears, Housing Benefit overpayments and other sundry debts together when negotiating an affordable repayment plan with our 

customers.  We strive to engage with our customers so that we can fully understand their circumstances. We refer our customers to 

independent budgeting and debt advice through the Exeter Money Advice Partnership (EMAP) consisting of colleagues from Exeter 

Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) and Homemaker, to find sustainable solutions for customers and to encourage financial independence. 

 

iii. Provide quality housing options advice 

There are currently 2,492 households registered on Devon Home Choice with medium or high housing need, and given that only 316 

Council owned properties became available to let in 2014/15, many households need to explore alternative housing options. In order 

to do this, Exeter City Council works closely with other organisations: housing associations, the private rented sector and bodies such 

as Exeter Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) and Plymouth Access To Housing (PATH) both of which are co-located at the Civic Centre, in 

order to support residents in finding and sustaining housing solutions whatever their circumstances.  



 12 

 

2. Provide more housing  
in particular by exploring ways of delivering new   

affordable housing across a range of tenures 

A 
A. Context and challenges 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Increasing the supply of housing is now a key national priority. Locally, it is essential in order to facilitate the continued economic 
growth of Exeter and to meet the needs and aspirations of residents. 

 

Demand for all forms of housing is high and rising. Almost 40% of households in Exeter rent a home and rents in the private sector are 

increasing. House prices in Exeter went up by 137% over the period 2000-2013, a higher rate of increase than in both Devon and 

England. For those on average or below average Exeter salaries, access to housing is restricted.  

 

Housing supply since 2006 has matched the annual delivery rate based on the planned total housing provision target of at least 12,000 

dwellings, but plan makers will need to consider how to respond to indicators provided by current market signals such as land prices 

and housing affordability when assessing future housing needs. 

 

 To access owner occupation in Exeter requires a salary threshold of between £27,100 and £43,400 

 Exeter’s average full time salary is £27,924 

 The salary needed to secure a 1 or 2 bed flat, or 2 bed terrace in Exeter in the Private Rented Sector is between £25,200 and 

£31,200  

K
e

y
 i

s
s

u
e

s
 

 Whilst housing supply is keeping up with the adopted plan housing target, market signals 

indicate a current imbalance between supply and demand  

 Much housing in the private sector, whether to buy or rent, is unaffordable 

 Options for social and affordable rents are reducing 



 13 

 

 

 

A 

A. Context and challenges 

 

The Core Strategy for Exeter requires the provision of at least 12,000 additional homes in Exeter between 2006 and 2026, 

in the following locations: 

 Suitable sites within the urban area outlined in the Development Plan Document (DPD).
2  

 Three ‘greenfield’ strategic allocations on the outskirts of the city: Monkerton / Hill Barton; Newcourt; and South 

West Alphington 

The latest annual Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)3  was published in July 2015 and showed that 5,721 of the 

12,000 additional homes outlined in the Core Strategy had been completed.  Planning consent has been granted for a further 5,339 

homes, amounting to 11,060 homes in total and not far short of the minimum 12,000 target by 2026.  

The SHLAA outlines a further 4,045 homes that are to be built on sites within the urban area and the strategic allocations by 2026, 

bringing the total to 15,105 homes developed in Exeter – over 3,000 homes more than the Core Strategy’s minimum requirement for 

2006 - 2026.  

 On average 25 properties per year are bought through Right to Buy; this number has risen since the government increased the 

amount of discount available, and is now five times higher than the figure in 2010 

 316 council properties let 2014/15 

 588 social lettings in Exeter 2014/15 

 431 affordable homes completed in last 4 years 

 429 affordable units are currently started on site 

 16 empty properties brought back in to use 2014/15 

 There are 320 long term empty properties in Exeter 

2. Provide more housing 

2 http://exeter.gov.uk/planning-services/planning-policy/local-plan/core-strategy-development-plan-document/ 

3 http://exeter.gov.uk/planning-services/planning-policy/monitoring-and-evidence-base/strategic-housing-land-availability-assessment/  

 



 14 

 

 2. Provide more housing 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

i. Increase housing supply 

We will continue to negotiate with developers, and work closely with neighbouring authorities and other agencies to 

increase and secure affordable housing supply to buy and to rent across the city. 

 

Housing Company 

We are currently exploring the viability of setting up a Council-owned Housing Company which would aim to develop 

and finance a house building programme outside the Housing Revenue Account. 

 

Devolution 

23 partners across the Heart of the South West (HotSW) area have outlined their case for a devolution deal which 

would benefit the HotSW area. A ‘Statement of Intent’ has been submitted to Government in response to its move to 

devolve powers and budgets from Westminster. With key themes of economic growth; health, social care and 

wellbeing; and infrastructure and local resilience, the document sets the scene for discussions with Government about 

what powers could be devolved. In terms of housing, the current devolution proposition is to develop a housing ‘growth 

offer’ to Government that will accelerate housing supply in appropriate areas (especially those needing to 

accommodate rapid economic growth).  

 

Council Own-Build and Extra Care: Passivhaus Standard Eco-Homes 

All of the new Council own-build homes, and the planned Extra Care housing at St. Loyes, are designed to provide a 

sustainable living environment. The houses are filled with technology to assist tenants in keeping a low energy, high 

performance home. A booklet, designed to help tenants make the most of these technologies, is provided to 

households. 

The buildings are designed to minimise the need for space heating and cooling, reducing running costs and becoming 

more affordable for tenants. Built to Passivhaus standard – a performance-based set of design criteria for very low 

energy buildings – each property is built on the principle of reducing heat loss. 

Families living in these properties benefit from reduced fuel and water bills, and the properties contribute to lowering 

carbon emissions and more sustainable living.  

 

Extra Care 

Extra Care housing can provide an alternative to a care home. Residents have their own self contained homes, 

available through mixed tenure, which allow people to live as independently as possible, but also provide access to 

varying levels of onsite care and support when needed.  

The Housing Development Team at Exeter City Council, together with project managers Arcadis and architects 

Architype, submitted a planning application for a 53 unit Extra Care scheme in January 2015. Units will be available to 

rent, or as shared ownership to rent/buy. This scheme forms part of the Millbrook Care Village development on the 

former St Loyes College site on Topsham Road.  



 15 

 

 2. Provide more housing 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

ii. Bring empty homes back to use 

Returning empty properties back to use is both cheaper and faster than building new ones. With 320 long term (6 

months or more) empty homes, Exeter has a comparatively low number. Our Empty Homes team works systematically 

with other Council departments and external sources to address the issue in a responsive and proactive manner.  

 

This approach has yielded significant success, with 16 properties returned to use in 2014/15, some of which had been 

empty over twenty years, and 86 properties returned to use since 2010. 

 

Annual Review of Empty Homes 

A review of empty homes, in line with New Homes Bonus
4
 funding returns, is carried out annually. All empty homes 

owners are contacted to:  

 Establish the current status of the property to ensure they are correctly listed on Council Tax records 

 Establish a timescale for re-occupation 

 Supply owners with details of the Empty Homes Service, and options available to them, such as lettings schemes 

and low cost loans that could assist in returning the property to use 

 

Response rates are usually high, around 70%, and those who do not respond are flagged for further investigation. Most 

intervention involves negotiation with owners to bring the property back to use either through sale, renting in the private 

sector, or letting through Council schemes or Housing Associations. Where it is not possible to work with the owner, for 

whatever reason, enforcement measures may be used, but this is only as a last resort. 

 

iii. Acquire housing on the open market 

£1m.  has been set aside in the HRA for the financial year 2016/17 to purchase property on the open market, as a 

relatively quick and cost effective way of increasing our stock. 

 

iv. Make the best use of our housing stock 

We have reviewed and will continue to review our Allocations Policy and Tenancy Policy. We aim to efficiently let our 

properties to those who need them for as long as they continue to need them.  

4 The New Homes Bonus is a grant paid by central government to local councils for increasing their number of homes. It is based 

on the amount of extra Council Tax revenue raised for new-build homes, conversions, and long-term empty homes brought back 

into use.  



 16 

 

 2. Provide more housing 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

Tenancy Strategy and Policy  

Our Tenancy Strategy applies across the city to all registered providers. It increases the availability of affordable/social 

housing in two ways:  

 Affordable rents fund housing associations’ building programmes  

 Flexible Tenancies are designed to increase turnover 

The Council introduced Flexible Tenancies in 2013. Such Flexible Tenancies may become compulsory for virtually all 

new tenants under the Housing and Planning Bill 2015. 

 

Allocations Policy 

Recent amendments to our Allocations Policy brought in a range of measures designed to streamline the number of 

households registered with Devon Home Choice and to prioritise housing need, as well as local connection. Changes 

also manage expectations, and implement preventative measures to avoid and reduce crisis cases. 

 

Temporary Housing 

The Council has access to various types of temporary housing in order to fulfil our duty to find accommodation for 

people facing statutory homelessness.  The ExtraLet temporary housing scheme is being replaced by the Renting 

Support Service, implemented by Plymouth Access to Housing (PATH), and the ongoing Private Sector Leasing (PSL) 

Scheme. Through the PSL Scheme, the Council can help bring empty or non-decent properties up to the Decent 

Homes Standard. The owner then leases the property to the Council, who sublet to the tenant.  

 

Wheelchair Accessible Properties 

In 2015, three (15%) of the new Council own-build properties were built to be fully wheelchair accessible. Features 

such as height adjustable worktops, mean that properties can be adapted to be suitable for a range of household 

needs. The Housing Development Team also secures 

5% wheelchair accessible housing for all new sites in 

the city that provide affordable housing under 

Section106 agreements.5 Tenants are ‘direct matched’ 

by our Occupational Therapist, to make sure the 

homes are custom-built to meet the needs of tenants 

with disabilities.  

5 A 'Section 106 agreement' is a legal arrangement entered into between a local planning authority and persons interested in land 

which imposes certain planning obligations. 



 17 

 

3. Be a good landlord  
by raising the standards of our own stock and  

landlord services, and by influencing the  

improvement of  standards in the private rented sector 

A 
A. Context and challenges 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For many people, particularly young people setting up home for the first time, renting a property is the only viable option. Home 

ownership may be an aspiration for many people but with average deposits running at over £70,000 nationally, and house prices rising 

far higher than the rate of inflation, it is likely to remain just that. It is estimated that, if present trends continue, by 2032 home 

ownership will have fallen to 49%, 35% will rent privately and only 16% will be in the social rented sector.6 This is the reality of housing 

in the UK and why our efforts as both landlord and strategic authority must have a strong focus on the rental sector over the next four 

years. 

 

We will pursue two main objectives. Firstly, as the principal landlord in Exeter we will lead by example by managing our own stock 

effectively and by investing in it to improve standards. Secondly, in our capacity as the strategic authority, by working in partnership 

with key stakeholders in the private rented sector, we will improve advice and information; develop policy; and sponsor new initiatives 

to help drive up standards in the sector.  

 

We wish to be a good landlord: to provide safe, secure, affordable, well-managed and well-maintained homes for all our residents. We 

want the private sector to be the same.  

 

We own and manage around 5,000 council properties because:  

 It is a successful and cost effective way of providing quality, affordable, secure housing to those who are in need 

 It allows close collaboration between those people working to meet housing need, those involved in supplying new affordable 

housing, and those who manage that housing 

 It enables us to meet our wider corporate aims, including supporting successful, sustainable communities 

K
e

y
 i

s
s

u
e

s
 

 Reduction in the number of existing council properties 

 Housing supply not keeping up with demand 

 Affordability and vulnerability issues 

 Relatively poor standards in some parts of the private rented sector 

 Much housing in the private sector whether to buy or rent is unaffordable 

6 Thomas, R (2014) Reshaping housing tenure in the UK: The role of buy-to-let. London: IMLA 



 18 

 

A 

A. Context and challenges 

 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Finance Changes 2015 

The Localism Act (2011) allowed councils to take control of their housing rental income to self-finance housing management and 

assets. Following the decision to reduce social housing rents by 1% per year until 2020, announced in the July 2015 Budget, Exeter 

City Council’s HRA budget has consequently been reduced by £7.9 million over the next four years. In addition, this budget is 

expected to incur further forced expenditure through the Government’s proposed levy on high value housing stock. These pressures 

on the HRA will inevitably have a significant impact on the outcomes Exeter City Council can achieve with its housing. 

 

The Private Rented Sector 

The Private Rented Sector in Exeter is growing and accounts for around 22% of all housing in the city. It offers a flexible form of tenure 

and contributes to greater labour market mobility, yet housing conditions in this sector are often worse than for any other tenure.   

While the proportion of stock with Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) hazards in Exeter is relatively low, 9% of owner 

occupied properties, and 11% of private rented sector properties, have such hazards.  

The percentage of properties in the Private Rented Sector whose occupants are in fuel poverty is relatively high (20%).  

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation 

Exeter has a high proportion of HMOs, accounting for 11% of the housing stock. This is largely due to the significant number of student 

residences. Around 800 (16%) of these properties are covered by mandatory HMO licensing, but not student halls of residence. These 

HMOs are inspected every five years (or in response to a complaint) to ensure that the landlords are complying with licensing 

conditions, and that the properties are free from HHSRS Category 1 or Category 2 hazards. 

 

 Private rental costs in Exeter are on average £840 per calendar month, £120 above the average for England (NHF, 2014) 

 Council rents in Exeter average £76.63 per week (£332 per calendar month) 

 Housing association rents in Exeter average £85.21 (£369 per calendar month) 

 Over a quarter of households in Exeter (27.1%)7 have at least one health problem  

 17% of Exeter’s population have their day to day activities limited a little or a lot by a long term health problem or disability. 

 By 2023 the number of people in Exeter over 65 is predicted to be 22,152, an increase of 8.7% 

 9% of those waiting on the housing register have accessibility needs (wheelchair access, step free or maximum of 3 steps) 

 Exeter’s White British population 88.3%  

 Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) 11.7%,  

 The largest BME group is Chinese (1.7%) followed by Indian, Pakistani and Bangladeshi (1.1%) 

 

 

3. Be a good landlord  

7 2011 Census  



 19 

 

 3. Be a good landlord 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

i. Provide quality Council housing 

In 2015 we restructured our Landlord Services. The business case that drove our restructure focused on seven 

requirements: 

 Know our customers 

 Know our stock 

 Manage our budgets and plan for the future 

 Work corporately 

 Improve performance 

 Adopt a new, proactive, way of working 

 Re-balance our staffing structure 

 

We now have two services – Asset Management and Customers – split into five teams covering reactive repairs; 

programmed repairs; compliance; customer relations and lettings and leasehold services. 

 

Asset Management 

We will provide a responsive repairs service that meets the needs of residents, represents value for money and is cost 

effective. We will maintain and improve our properties by implementing programmes that make the best use of our 

resources to benefit both our assets and our customers.  

We aim for our properties to meet or exceed the Decent Homes Standard (currently less than 3% are non-decent). 

We have transformed our voids performance: two years ago our void times were poor (around 53 days); we are now 

averaging less than 22 days on standard voids and aim to reduce this further year on year, thereby helping to meet 

housing need by making suitable properties available more quickly. 

 

Customer Services 

Our Lettings and Leasehold Team and Customer Relations Team manage tenancies from start to finish in a proactive 

manner.  

In order to be a good landlord we need to work closely with other providers in the city. We will develop and improve our 

relations with housing associations in the city in order to provide better services for whole neighbourhoods. 

We are currently reviewing our housing and housing-related support services for older people following the withdrawal 

of funding from Devon County Council. We are maintaining the current warden service and emergency alarm system 

until at least March 2017. After that we hope to introduce new arrangements in partnership with the voluntary sector 

that will deliver better outcomes for residents and are financially sustainable, affordable and meet reasonable needs. 



 20 

 

 3. Be a good landlord 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

Housing Customer Relation Officer Visits 

We have begun a programme of regular visits to all of our tenants to enhance our knowledge of our customers, 

properties and tenancies. At present, we are halfway through our initial visits, resulting in around 80% of tenants being 

placed in an annual visit programme, with the remaining 20% placed on a programme of more frequent visits for a 

variety of reasons. These visits allow us to:  

 Get to know our tenants 

 Ensure landlord services best meet tenant needs 

 Understand the demands placed upon the service 

 Discuss tenancies where necessary 

 Check properties for repairs and maintenance issues 

 Ensure our vulnerable tenants are receiving the support they need 

 

Anti-Social Behaviour 

Exeter City Council’s Housing Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and procedures are currently undergoing a full review, 

involving tenants, leaseholders and other housing organisations. Anti-social behaviour is a complex area that needs to 

be responded to proportionately, in line with the most up to date legislation, and with a solution focused approach. 

 

Resident Involvement 

We believe that residents should have a number of opportunities to influence and affect our policies; our decision-

making; our performance; our management and maintenance of our properties; and our standards of service. 

Our Resident Involvement Strategy is currently under review.  

 

Performance Scrutiny Partnership (PSP) 

All social housing providers are expected allow their tenants and leaseholders to shape and improve services, and to 

hold their landlords to account. At Exeter City Council the Performance Scrutiny Partnership (PSP) is a group of tenants 

and leaseholders who review services and performance, providing recommendations and feedback to the service. The 

PSP has helped develop five Key Pledges for the Housing Service, and are currently involved in the review of anti-

social behaviour. 



 21 

 

 3. Be a good landlord 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

Our Five Key Pledges: 

 

 We pledge to provide safe, well maintained homes 

 

 We pledge to work in partnership with other organisations 

to create neighbourhoods which are safe and well 

maintained, and where people want to live 

 

 We pledge to work with tenants and leaseholders to 

ensure all terms and conditions of our tenancies are 

understood and complied with 

 

 We pledge to let our properties promptly, fairly and 

consistently in order to meet housing need and help 

create sustainable communities 

 

 In order to meet all our pledges we will involve our 

residents, and provide services which are fair, equitable 

and accessible 



 22 

 

 3. Be a good landlord 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

Being more than a landlord 

We are by far the largest landlord in Exeter, but we are more than just a landlord.  

In the next four years, and particularly with the recruitment of our new Housing Community Partnerships Officer, we 

plan to initiate, or be involved in, a range of community based initiatives. These include: 

 Developing partnerships with local voluntary and charitable groups to deliver more appropriate and affordable 

services 

 Boosting resident capacity to help people improve their own lives 

 Tackling fuel poverty 

 Maximising income, especially welfare benefits 

 Addressing health and well-being matters, particularly issues around loneliness and isolation 

 Minimising anti-social behaviour  

 

ii.  Improve conditions in the private sector 

Health and safety and energy efficiency 

Support is available for low income homeowners, tenants and landlords to increase the energy efficiency of their 

homes, and to apply for low interest repair loans. 

 

Low Interest Home Repair Loans 

Low Interest Home Repair Loans are available to low income households in order for them to undertake essential 

repairs, and to bring their homes up to the Decent Home Standard. These loans are administered through Wessex 

Home Loans who hold loan funds on behalf of many South West local authorities. 

 

Energy Efficiency 

Exeter City Council is part of the CosyDevon scheme, together with other Devon Local Authorities and energy supplier 

E.ON. The scheme helps eligible households become more energy efficient. ECO
8 
is a Government-led energy saving 

scheme funded by energy suppliers. It aims to reduce the amount of energy homes in Britain use and waste, and also 

ease fuel poverty.  

The Central Heating Fund has been set up to incentivise the installation of first time central heating systems in fuel poor 

households who do not use mains gas as their primary heating fuel. This fund has been accessed through the 

CosyDevon partnership, with £1 million awarded to support eligible local households.  Helping households overcome 

these high initial costs will reduce the potential for cold-related illnesses and reduce fuel poverty.  

8 ECO funding is due to end March 2017 but it is intended to replace it with a new scheme.  



 23 

 

 3. Be a good landlord 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

Enhancing standards 

Our capacity to improve conditions in the private rented sector is supported by proposals set out in the Housing and 

Planning Bill 2015 which include measures to tackle rogue landlords. The Deregulation Act 2015 also introduced 

additional requirements for landlords to comply with before serving a Section 21 Notice to end a tenancy. This will work 

in favour of tenants on assured shorthold tenancies entered into on or after 1st October 2015. 

We will continue to promote high standards in the Private Rented Sector through: 

 Leading by example in how we manage and maintain our own stock 

 Offering education, advice, and support to landlords and tenants by sharing good practice through our Private 

Rental Forum, Exeter’s Landlords’ Forum, and the Landlords’ Handbook 

 Identifying and dealing with hazards to improve conditions of properties, taking enforcement where necessary 

 Working in partnership with Private Rented Sector landlords to improve security and stability for tenants 

 

Private Rental Forum 

This city-wide group of private tenants, landlords and local organisations aims to be a platform for all those with a 

connection to the Private Rented Sector to have a voice and be part of a positive vehicle for change. It has the following 

key aims:  

 Provide a better understanding of landlord and tenant rights and responsibilities, and identify where to get help if 

needed 

 Improve access to Private Rented Sector accommodation 

 Improve local property standards in the Private Rented Sector 

 Promote good practice and share knowledge 

 

Over the coming year the Forum will undertake to: 

 Promote, distribute and update Landlord Guides and Tenant Handbooks 

 Hold information days in Princesshay for local landlords, tenants and students 

 Organise Landlord Forums in collaboration with the National Landlord Association 

 Produce a Landlord Newsletter 



 24 

 

 3. Be a good landlord 

B. What we are doing and what we will do  

Exeter’s Landlords’ Forum 

Our Housing Development Team and the National Landlord Association (NLA) have successfully held Exeter's 

Landlords’ Forums since 2009. Organised twice a year, the Forum is a free information and networking event, and is 

open to all private landlords, letting agents, and anyone interested in letting property. 

 

Landlords’ Handbook 

Produced by the Housing Development Team, the Landlords’ Handbook is an online guide, frequently updated, aimed 

at helping landlords and agents understand their rights and responsibilities in order to ensure a quality service is 

delivered by them, and experienced by tenants. 

 

Tenant Handbook 

A Tenant Handbook will be produced to complement the Landlords’ Handbook. It will provide advice and guidance to 

tenants in private rented accommodation and inform them of their rights with regard to landlords and renting privately.  

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

In February 2015 we introduced an additional licensing scheme in respect of properties that are classified as HMOs 

that have been converted into self contained flats, and where more than a third of the flats are rented. The scheme also 

covers flats in multiple occupation above commercial buildings. It is anticipated that this scheme, which will last 5 years, 

will cover around 400 HMOs, all of which will be inspected within 5 years of their licences being granted.  

 

iii. Promote healthy neighbourhoods 

Overall responsibility for health and wellbeing sits with Devon County Council, but Exeter City Council has a role in 

promoting healthy living and protecting citizens under the Care Act (2014).  

Housing is at the heart of healthy neighbourhoods. We will continue to work with tenants, residents and agencies to 

promote healthy neighbourhoods and improve the housing conditions of Exeter properties. We will connect residents 

with the most appropriate support mechanisms, reduce fuel poverty, and reduce the risk and incidents of 

homelessness. Our Housing Community Partnership Officer is linking with the Health and Wellbeing Board; connecting 

with community bodies, and involving residents in the way the housing service is run.  

 

Provide housing adaptations 

Where residents require additional help to remain living independently, whether due to long term illness, disability or old 

age, the Council has a responsibility through the Care Act (2014), to ensure housing supports wellbeing.  We have 

access to Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Funding through the Better Care Fund in order to adapt properties.  We also 

provide minor adaptations ourselves through the Housing Revenue Account. 



 25 

 

 

Conclusion 

Most commentators and professionals working in the field agree that a range of housing ‘interventions’ is 

needed to address the UK’s housing crisis in all of its different facets. A focus on home ownership, while 

meeting the aspirations of some, cannot be the only ‘tool in the box’. This Strategy tries to recognise that 

reality and has set out the various ways in which the Council, working within the constraints of the 

national policy and financial framework, will seek to respond to Exeter’s housing needs over the next 

four years.  

 

If you have any questions about any aspect of this Strategy please contact: 

 

Mark Jolly 

Service Lead: Performance, Strategy and Resources 

mark.jolly@exeter.gov.uk 

01392 265814 

mailto:Mark.jolly@exeter.gov.uk


 26 

 

 

 

 

Civic Centre 

Paris Street 

Exeter 

EX1 1JN 

www.exeter.gov.uk 


	Agenda
	7 Exeter Community Strategy - Neighbourhood Portion of the Community Infrastructure Levy
	Exeter Community Strategy_v13

	8 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring to December 2015
	APP 1 - HRA AREAS OF BUDGETARY RISK DEC
	APP 2 - HRA Dec Revenue
	APP 3 - 15-16 HRA Capital Financing - Dec 15
	APP 4 - Capital Monitoring Dec '15

	9 Community Budget Monitoring to December 2015
	Budget Monitoring Q3 - Community APPENDIX 1
	Capital Monitoring Q3 - Community APPENDIX 2
	Community - Areas of Budgetary Risk Appendix 3

	10 Recycling Action Plan 2016/17
	11 Housing Strategy - 2016-2020
	Housing Strategy Feb 2016 FINAL


